Stamping Butterflies
Jon Courtenay Grimwood

For Sammy, same asit ever was...and Jams.

"When thetruth isreplaced by silence, theslenceisalie...”

Yevgeny Yevtushenko

CONTENTS
TITLE PAGE_

DEDICATION

EPIGRAPH

KEY.

PROLOGUE

CHAPTER1

CHAPTER 2

CHAPTER3

CHAPTER 4

CHAPTER S

CHAPTERG6

CHAPTERY

CHAPTERS8


E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_tp_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_tp_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_tp_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_ded_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_ded_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_ded_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_epi_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_epi_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_epi_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_fm1_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_fm1_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_fm1_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_fm2_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_fm2_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_fm2_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c01_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c01_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c02_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c02_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c03_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c03_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c04_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c04_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c05_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c05_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c06_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c06_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c07_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c07_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c08_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c08_r1.htm

CHAPTER9

CHAPTER 10

CHAPTER 11

CHAPTER 12

CHAPTER 13

CHAPTER 14

CHAPTER 15

CHAPTER 16

CHAPTER 17

CHAPTER 18

CHAPTER 19

CHAPTER 20

CHAPTER 21

CHAPTER 22

CHAPTER 23

CHAPTER 24

CHAPTER 25

CHAPTER 26


E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c09_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c09_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c10_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c10_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c11_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c11_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c12_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c12_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c13_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c13_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c14_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c14_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c15_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c15_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c16_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c16_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c17_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c17_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c18_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c18_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c19_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c19_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c20_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c20_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c21_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c21_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c22_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c22_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c23_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c23_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c24_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c24_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c25_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c25_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c26_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c26_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c27_r1.htm

CHAPTER 27

CHAPTER 28

CHAPTER 29

CHAPTER 30

CHAPTER 31

CHAPTER 32

CHAPTER 33

CHAPTER 34

CHAPTER 35

CHAPTER 36

CHAPTER 37

CHAPTER 38

CHAPTER 39

CHAPTER 40

CHAPTER 41

CHAPTER 42

CHAPTER 43

CHAPTER 44

CHAPTER 45


E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c27_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c28_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c28_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c29_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c29_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c30_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c30_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c31_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c31_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c32_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c32_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c33_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c33_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c34_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c34_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c35_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c35_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c36_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c36_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c37_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c37_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c38_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c38_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c39_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c39_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c40_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c40_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c41_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c41_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c42_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c42_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c43_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c43_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c44_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c44_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c45_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c45_r1.htm

CHAPTER 46

CHAPTER 47

CHAPTER 48

CHAPTER 49

CHAPTER 50

CHAPTER 51

CHAPTER 52

CHAPTER 53

CHAPTER %4

CHAPTER 55

CHAPTER 56

CHAPTER 57

CHAPTER 58

CHAPTER 59

EPILOGUE

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

ALSO BY JON COURTENAY GRIMWOOD



E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c46_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c46_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c47_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c47_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c48_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c48_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c49_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c49_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c50_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c50_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c51_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c51_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c52_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c52_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c53_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c53_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c54_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c54_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c55_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c55_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c56_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c56_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c57_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c57_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c58_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c58_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c59_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_c59_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_bm1_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_bm1_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_bm1_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_bm2_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_bm2_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_bm2_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_ata_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_ata_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_ata_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_adc_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_adc_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_adc_r1.htm
E:\Program Files\ABC Amber Text Converter\Grim_0553902911_oeb_cop_r1.htm

COPYRIGHT PAGE

KEY:

now then thefuture*

"Future dates are given by number of emperor and yearsreigned. So CTzu53/Year 7 means 53rd
emperor (Chuang Tzu), 7th year of reign.

PROLOGUE
Paris, Monday 26 March

Beijing outraged...

Someone had taken the fate of the world and tossed it onto a chair and somebody e se had dumped it
under atable, whereit remained until athin, grey-haired tramp picked up the paper, wiped off the worst
of the grime and spread it out.

Forty-one degreesin Cairo. Snow in Cape Town. Russias president-for-life had just re-invaded
Chechnya, the Chinese navy was blockading Taiwan and the current occupant of the White House had
announced hisintention to become thefirst presdent since Truman to vist North Africa

It wasfive years since the tramp had read a newspaper and within three paragraphs he remembered
why. Hislife was messy enough without adding complications from the rest of theworld.

"Mongeur?'

Thiswas his cueto order a coffee or leave. Counting his coins without taking his hand from his coat
pocket, the clochard nodded. "Espresso,” he said. He didn't blame the boy. Thered been that summer
he arrived as the shutters were opening and stayed until the old woman, the one who was now deed,
shooed him out onto Rue du Temple so she could finish mopping up for the night.

Leaving ahandful of coppers, mostly to prove he could, the tramp began to fold his paper. That was
when he first noticed two young men going from table to table, both dressed in the default cool of New
Y ork or London, black T-shirts hanging loose outside black chinos, expensive shades and smple shoes.

It was the dress of urban anonymity. One that spoke of hurried lives and the need to blend into a certain
gratum of city life. In Paris, where T-shirts got tucked over even the proudest bellies and dressing aike
was the preserve of banlieue dwellersor bon chic/bon gen couples with five-button blazers and Rue S.
Honoré frocks, such foreignness shouted trouble.

At least it did to the tramp in the tweed coat. And shouted it loud enough for him to push back his chair,
stand up and squeeze past a German tourist, who promptly checked her pockets, then frowned,
wondering if shed just been perved.

The men caught up with him later, probably by accident, at afood stall in the Marché des Enfants Rouge,
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where he sat scraping chicken tagine from a pot while he watched a Sudanese boy argue with athickset
girl who looked haf Arab, haf something else.

Both the girl and boy knew he was watching; neither minded.

A triangle, made up of Rues St. Paul and de Turenne to the east, des Archivesto the west and the river
to the south defined the edges of hisworld, within which the tramp was known and obscurely famous.

No onetalked of the heroin, the cheap brandy, the nights he never quite made it back to aderelict,
fifth-floor room overlooking Passage St. Jacques. The Marais district was avery private place. So
private that many of the tourists who now roamed its narrow streets barely noticed it was there.

"I'm looking for Jake Razor," one of the men said, no introduction and no politeness, just the bald
statement and the expectation that thiswould be enough.

The man in the old tweed coat |ooked blank.
" Joke Razor."
"Pardonnez-moi ?"

They stared at each other and there it might have ended, except that the first of the Gap-clad men
signalled to the second, who pulled up achair. " Nous cherchons pour Jake Razor. Le mathématicien
et guitarist punk..." From hisjacket he retrieved a press card and a letter from some editor at Rolling
Sone, dumping these beside an old photograph of abare-chested, snarling boy in black jeans.

"Avez-vous seen him?"

"He'sdead," said the tramp, checking the name on the card. "Y ears back. There was afire. It was on the
radio.”

Bill Hagsteen sighed. "That was Marzag," he said. "The Arab kid."

Marzag d-Turg had been born half German and haf Turkish, as his name suggested, but the tramp didn't
bother to point thisout. "Even if Jake'sdive," said the tramp, "what makes you think he moved to Paris?’

"We haveinformation,” said Bill Hagsteen.
"Therésafamily trust,”" the other said. "It bought an gpartment in Rue St. Paul, roughly fifteen yearsago.”

"But no one from the family usesit. In fact, none of them have been anywhere near thiscity in dl that
time." They were like an old married couple, finishing each other's sentences without even noticing.

"No problem,” said the tramp. "Give me the number and I'll take you there.”
"If we had that we could find it ourselves™

"We shouldn't even know about the gpartment,” added Bill Hagsteen. "The trust doesn't take kindly to
enquiries from the press”

The man in the tweed coat thought about this and then thought about it some more. Pulling afina diver of
flesh from his chicken bone, he pushed away his empty bowl. "Maybe | can help,” he said.



The steam bath was at the southern end of Rue St. Paul, and the tramp enjoyed seeing his new friends
strip to their towels and sit sweating on tiled benches as they watched every man who entered for sgns
that he might once have been lead guitarist with Razor's Edge.

"Where now?' Bill Hagsteen asked, which the tramp took as an indication that he'd had enough of
watching locas shift uneasily under his gaze or glareright back. They ate brunch at the Cgjun place next
to the Arts, lessthan aminute from the steam bath. And then Bill had the idea of checking if Jake had
ever rented aroom at the hotel. So their guide went in by himself and came out again seconds later.

"Fifty euros™" hesad.
"Twenty-five," said the other.
Bill Hagsteen pulled fifty from acrocodile skin wallet and handed it over without comment.

Folding the eurosinto his hand and pocketing them before he even reached reception, the tramp smiled
at thewoman behind the desk. He was smarter today. Still wearing his tweed coat, but with apair of
trousers which looked amost clean.

"Sorry about that," he said, "forgot something.”

The receptionist gave him the rate card he asked for, explained about weekend ded s and then looked at
him more closdly.

"I'm babysitting Americans,” he explained. They'd nodded to each other in Le Celtic afew timesthough
never spoken.

"You're American." Shesad thisasafact.
"I've been many things."

Outside, on the pavement, the tramp regretted that no one resembling Jake now rented aroom at the
ArtsHotel, dthough aNew Y ork poet had lived there for years. Unfortunately he'd died.

"Did you get adescription?”
The tramp shook his head. "Before her time."

They stopped to look at the opium pipesin the window of the Buddha shop, crossed the road to cut
down Rue Charlemagne, with its blue plague naming Charles as"Emperor of the West" and rejoined Rue
S. Paul viaa passage, old buildingsrisng six storeys on either Sde of the narrow walk-through.

A black woman at the only freetill in Monoprix looked briefly at Bill Hagsteen's old photograph and
shook her head, her attention already on aman waiting impatiently behind them. Vidgitsto the tabac and
the English bookshop produced much the same resuilt.

"Tdl me" said their guide, "how good isyour information?"
"Sixty per cent," said Bill Hagsteen. "Maybeless.”

"I hopeit didn't cost you too much.”

"It cost nothing,” the other said tartly.

"Could be," said the tramp, as he pocketed their fee, "that'swhy it'sworthless."



She was young and pretty and very scared. And 150 euros was what it took to get her delivered to
Passage St. Jacquesin an uninsured taxi, driven by aboy without alicence. Her name was Zeinab and
she was shocked to find that the tramp spoke her language, and more shocked till that his bed turned
out to be amattress on ametal balcony.

Hewas, after dl, paying asum she could barely imagine.

"l likefreshair," the man said. And watched Zeinab smile doubtfully as she glanced around hisfilthy attic
room, with itstorn leather chair facing an untuned TV, which sheimagined to be broken, but he knew
replayed proof of the Big Bang, dancing snow from the birth of the universe,

"Threeyears," hetold her. That was how long he'd been clean.

Another smile twisted the teenager's lips without ever reaching her eyes. Ahmed had made it very clear
about what would happen if the tramp had been lying about having money. About what would happen if
he got Zeinab back damaged. She'd been there when her pimp took the man's call, so it was smal
wonder that her hands wouldn't stop shaking.

Ahmed had been the tramp's dedler in the early days, before he sweated out the darkness and his
addiction on amattress, dragged onto the balcony and never returned, an endless reminder not to go
back.

"Until midnight,” Zeinab said.
The tramp sighed. He'd told Ahmed that for 150 euros he wanted agirl until sunrise. "I'm not walking you
back a midnight," he said.

Zeinab shook her head. "No," she said, voice firmer. "Mr. Ahmed's coming to collect me." And then she
lay on her front, as the man instructed, though first she removed her clothes.

Sometime between the tears and midnight, darkness attempted to take over, announcing itsarrival with a
sudden pressure at the back of the tramp's skull. He heard the girl gasp as hisfingerstightened on her
shoulders and then she was crying, with those blind unconscious sobs of thetruly afraid.

"Okay," hesaid, "it'sokay." Not knowing if he wastaking to her or to himself. And withdrawing from the
tightness of her body, he rolled off and sat with hisface to the night wind, listening to his breath steady
and the sounds of the city reappear.

"Mongeur..."

She knelt behind him, apologising for her terror. Alternating between broken French and a stream of
Arabic, which trailed into silence as he turned to face her.

"No," hesaid firmly. "Not you, me..." And he helped Zeinab to her feet and indicated that she should
dress, but she shook her head, eyes huge. It was Ahmed, he redized; the kid wasterrified that he might
complain to her owner.

"It'sokay,” the man inssted, but he didn't stop Zeinab when she sunk to her kneesin front of him, wiping
her lips with the back of her hand. After afew minutes he lifted her up again and kissed her on her
forehead, smelling unwashed hair and panic.

The darkness and he had a clear agreement on what was and wasn't allowed. Reading a paper had been



pushing it. The young whore with her olive skin, dark nipples and fear-enhanced eyes was so far outside
the rules that the man knew whatever happened next would be bad.

"You know," he said, as he watched Zeinab eye her clothes. ™Y ou should leave now." Her breastswere
too small to need a braand the tramp wondered if her dip was Ahmed'sidea, or something she'd owned
before she became the sadness she now was. It was only when Zeinab climbed into her jeans and pulled
on ajacket that heredized the dip was not adip at al but somekind of transparent shirt.

They waited for Ahmed under the arch where the passage met Rue St. Paull, five floors of other people's
lives stacked over their heads. And when her pimp finally arrived it was in the taxi which had dropped
Zeinab at the gpartment.

"\H‘(e_"
The tramp shook his head. "We've been through this," he said. "I'm not Jake."
"Whatever..." Checking Zeinab with aquick glance, the pimp appeared satisfied. "Behave hersdf?"

"Yeah," said the tramp, watching the young girl climb in besde Ahmed's driver. "Good asgold.” The
pimp looked pleasantly surprised.

"Okay, then," he said. "Weé're done.”
"Not redly," said thetramp. "We agreed until morning."

"No." Ahmed shook hishead. "I agreed nothing. Y ou asked, that's different. Still..." Dipping hishand
into asuit pocket, he produced asmall paper bag. "Here," he said, "for old times sake." There werefive
of them, tiny tubes like a dall's toothpaste, each with a short needle where the cap should be.

The ultimate painkiller. Béttlefield heroin.

A full moon reflected off theriver, inlaying its surface with jagged divers of slver. A cat, hunting dong the
cobbles, detoured around the tramp in along looping path when it saw him crouched at the water's edge.
A cemetery owl from Pere La Chaise swooped low overhead, skimming branches before returning the
way it came.

The man who was not Jake Razor considered al of these things as he shucked off his tweed coat and
rolled up hisdeeve. The River Seinelooked almost flat and yet it was not; the river was whatever shape
the banks and bottom made it. And the moon, that too looked flat, but only if one thought in two
dimengons. Or four, the tramp reminded himsdlf. Sometimes the darkness made him think thoughts
which were not entirdy hisown.

It was only on hisway home, early next morning, with AMERICAN PRESIDENT REFUSESTO
SIGN SPACE ACCORD WITH CHINA, BEIJING OUTRAGED clutched amost forgotten benesth
one arm, that the darkness findly gave the tramp his orders. He was passing Rue Charlemagne at the
time, withitsblue sgn, "Roi de France, Empereur.” And maybe thiswas what nudged the darknessinto
naming itsprice.

The tramp must kill again. And the person he should kill was the occupant of the White House,
Charlemagne's heir, the new Emperor of the West.



CHAPTER 1
Marrakech, Saturday 12 May

President Gene Newman liked visiting new cities. In fact, heliked it so much he took the trouble to have
oneof hisinternswrite up brief historiesfor each city he was about to vigit. The note for Marrakech,
named for Marra Kouch, and peopled mainly by Berbers, being North Africansin direct descent from a
prehistoric Ibero-Mauretanian culture, had run to five pages and been crammed full of amilar facts.

When challenged, the intern informed the President that she hadn't been alowed enough time to make her
essay shorter and he should try harder with the history. She was alowed to say things like that. Ally was
hisonly daughter.

"Enjoying yourself?' the US ambassador asked.

The correct response was Yes. So Ally nodded, despite midday heat which had swesat running down her
spine and was dready making embarrassing stains under the arms of her T-shirt.

Most of Marrakech had turned out to watch the new American President, his daughter and their
bodyguards trudge across the sticky expanse of Djemaae Fna, North Africa's most famous square.
They were accompanied on thiswalk by avery senior minister of the Moroccan government and the US
ambassador, who was doing his best to look unruffled by the jellaba-clad crowds who pushed againgt
hastily erected barriers.

Gene Newman was here againgt the advice of his own staff, mostly to prove that he was not the previous
incumbent, aman given to caling up generasfor advice while playing Command and Conquer on his
PSP. So said Ally, who'd got it from another intern who had it from awoman on the switchboard. It was
agood story, even if untrue.

Marrakech was the reason Ally had joined him on the North African section of thistrip. Sheld seen the
Medinafeatured in an old Bond film and wanted to experience the crowds and the chaos of the Old City
for hersdf. The President could tell from Ally's expression that she'd been expecting more. That wasthe
big problem with being fifteen, emotions showed on your face. Hypocrisy came with age, a least it did in
his experience.

"Maybethat suff wasjudt for thefilm..."
"Ally?" The President bent his heed.
"Therewere monkeys," Ally said. "And bad men juggling knives. Someone had acamel to giverides."

"We have snake charmers, medicine men and belly dancers.” The Moroccan minister had to lean across
Gene Newman to explain this. " And those people ringing bellsin red with the huge hats are water sellers.
But sometimes film companieswant more."

Ally nodded, yet till managed to look doubtful.

Her black jeans and long-deeved purple T-shirt, tied-back blonde hair and huge dark glassesto protect
her eyes from the sun had been carefully chosen.

Demure enough to impress those behind the barriers who'd grown used to seeing the daughters of
nasrani tourists wear little more than tight shorts or low-cut vests, but not so much of acompromise that



her outfit played badly with hard-core liberals and redneck critics back home.

A scarf had been suggested by the Moroccans and politely rejected. No one redlly expecting their
proposdl to be any more than that, a s mple suggestion made for form rather than anything else.

The man speaking to Ally Newman was afirst cousin of the King, or maybe it was second. Gene
Newman knew his name, he just wasn't able to pronounceit, at least not with sufficient confidence to use
it socidly. So he cadled the minister "my friend" and hoped he wasn't causing too much offence.

Although hisvery presencein Morocco had dready caused offence to many, Gene Newman understood
this. He'd read the digests and then demanded sight of the CIA originas on which the digests were
based. It was touch and go whether this visit would cause more good than harm.

Gene Newman sighed.
"Y ou dso wanted to see the Barbary apes?

His Excedllency looked anxious. Asif he should have redized that a thousand years of history was not
enough.

"I've been here before," admitted President Newman. "After college. It's every bit asimpressive asl
remember...No," he sad, shaking his head. "Just forgot to cal my wifelast night. Not clever."

"Ahh." The other man looked sympathetic. "Y ou could do it immediately after this?'
"Youreright," said Gene Newman. "And we probably do need to turn back."

This last was addressed to his daughter. A nod to the nearest Secret Service agent told the man that the
President was done, while an equally quick nod to his daughter, followed by aglance at His Excellency,
told Ally exactly what was expected of her.

"Thank you," shesaid withasmile. "It'sbeen redly interesting.”

"Interesting” was a Newman family word for boring, but the minister didn't know that and thiswasjust as
well, because Ally could see from her father's frown that she should have said something different.

"I meanit," she said hadtily. "It would have been neet to see monkeys but thisisredly, redly..." Ally
gestured round the vast square with itsjellaba-clad crowd now spilling out onto flat roofs and filling the
upper baconies of along café behind them. "It'sredly something,” said Ally.

"You like?' The minister sounded pleased. Although why the cousin of aking should carewhat a
fifteen-year-old American girl thought Ally wasn't sure.

"Ohyes" shedarted to say. "l redly--"

That was when the first bullet hit the dust beside her, and an agent she'd barely noticed before dammed
Ally to thedirt, bresking afloating rib on her |eft Sde asherolled over her, putting his bulk between the
girl and the direction of the shot. " Stay down," growled hisvoicein Ally's ear. "There might be another."

Theriflewas an old Kropatscheck rechambered for 8mm. It had seen service with the Vichy forcesin
North Africa and then--a decade later--been wrapped in oilcloth and stacked in the corner of acellar for
afurther fifty years, hdf hidden and amost forgotten.



Until today.

Wiping vomit from hislips, the man who was not Jeke fumbled therifleinto its component bits, cleaned
the bolt with ascrap of rag held between shaky fingers, gected seven unused bullets from the tubular
magazine and haphazardly wiped down both magazine and bullets while he waited for the police to find
him.

He had failed and for this he would not be forgiven.

The darkness had suggested the minaret of La Koutoubia as an ided place from which to shoot the
President, but this proved to be out of the question, because uniforms of every hue had begun locking
down the area around Djemaa € Fna before the tramp even remembered where to find therifle.

Actualy, aminaret from any of the other three mosques overl ooking the massive square would have
donejust aswell, aswould the roof terrace of Café Arganaor even Les Terrasses del'Alhambra, which
hadn't been there when he first knew the city.

In the end he'd been reduced to climbing the scaffolding on abuilding site off Rue Zitoun € Oedim. " Shit
choice" said the man.

And the ghost at hisback had to agree.

Ridiculoudy beautiful with his honey-dark skin and huge eyes, the teenage boy was arguing with a
bare-kneed girl on aroof that no longer existed, but which the tramp could just have seen, had the dog
woman's house not fallen down in the years snce hed been away.

Neither the girl, the boy nor the man who remembered them had any doubt about the fact that the boy
waslosing. And even now, with the Kropatscheck reassembled in his hands and darkness ill using his
eyes, the bearded tramp could summon up Marzaq d-Turg's thin face and that of the red-haired girl, all
rounded cheeks and down-turned mouth, which only levelled out on the rare occas ons when she smiled.

"Please," Moz sad, as he combed lemon+juice highlightsinto the hair of agirl called Mdika "Thisis
important.”

Back then, the house had belonged to the English woman and it sat on the corner of Derb Yassnand a
nameessdley, inthe old Jewish didtrict, in the days when the M lah till held more than ahandful of
Yehoudia. Once, of course, there had been nearly forty thousand Jews living in the Mdlah, but the
foundation of Isragl and the Arab-sragli conflicts had put an end to that.

When begging didn't work, Moz tried blackmail. "Look," he said, "you haveto--"

"No," said thegirl, "I don't." Her patience had gone, her voice wastight. If Moz possessed more sense
hed have paid attention to Mdikaswarning signs.

"Youwould," Moz inggted, "if--"

"If what? | loved you?"

Moz nodded.

"Y ou know," Mdikasad, "my mother warned me about boyslike you."

It was a bad joke. The woman was long dead and there were no other boyslike Moz in Marrakech, nor
girlslike Mdikaeither; that was what they told themselves. Moz and Malika were what Marrakech had



for punks, ahdf-English waif given to wearing men's shirtsinstead of dresses and a hdf-German boy in
jeans, with newly dyed black hair and shades stolen from his employer, Jake Razor.

Sat there on theroof of Dar € Beida, at atime somewhere between noon and the next call to prayer, an
hour when the city panted like an old cur under the weight of its own exhaustion, and only cats and
occasiond hippies were stupid enough to roam the maze-like streets of the Mdlah, Moz findly redized
that Maikawasn't going to do what he wanted.

Beyond a certain point friendship broke. Asfor love, it seemed that was more fragile till.
"l can't,” said Malika, as she took back her comb.

Moz poured away the saucer of lemon juicein slence.

"And | won't," she added.

"Thenl will," sssdMoz. "And I'll doit by mysdf.”

Their fight was about whether Malikawould help him ddliver apackage of drugsfor Caid Hammou and
about the fact that Moz wanted to get his handsinto Malika's pants and Maikawasn't entirely sure shed
let him.

The year was 1977.

Wreckless Eric had signed to Stiff, Televison's LP Marquee Moon was ripping apart the souls of all
who heard it, Sheenawas a punk rocker. The Sex Pistols, about the only good thing to come out of the
jubilee of Queen Elizabeth 11, had got to number onein the UK charts and been banned from
Woolworth's. Neil Y oung wastwo years away from the greatness that was Rust Never Seeps.

Despite their clothes, Mdikas attempts to bleach her hair and the shades hiding the tears which now
hung in the corner of Moz's eyes, none of the above names meant athing to either of them.

CHAPTER 2
Marrakech, Friday 25 May

Charlie Bilberg's brief was smple: extract the maximum amount of information with the minimum amount
of Amnesty Internationa outrage and clear the Marrakchi case off his section chief's desk before the end
of thethird week in July.

Charlie's section chief had not specificaly tied this end date to the beginning of Ramadan, that month
when al devout Modemsfast during the hours of daylight, but the young agent was bright enough to
meake the connection for himsdlf. There was no point igniting an dready flammable Stuation.

A military court had been convened and the fact that Colonel Borgenicht had yet to hear any evidence
was not enough to stop Fox News and anumber of the tabloids reaching their verdict in advance. The
only thing seemingly still open for discuss on was how the execution should be carried ouit.

Agent Bilberg was there to st advance evidence.

Actualy hewasnt there at al. He would be arriving in Marrakech next week and staying at aflat in



Gudiz arranged by the US consul on behdf of the American ambassador.

Thisweek hewas on leave, that waswhat it said on all officid records. Which was how Charlie Bilberg
found himsdlf deeping at aHivernage tourist hotel in the New Town, surrounded by package-tour
Austrians who descended on the morning buffet and cleared it of cheese, sausage and diced mest before
Charlie had finished hisfirgt cup of coffee.

Hed been careful to do holiday things, spending two mornings at acafé just off Djemaae Fna, drinking
mint teaat a plastic table, while hard dance from atiny machine shop opposite competed with the café's
choice of soft rock, which often switched between French, English and Arab, mostly in the same song.

And both timesheld paid for his mint teawith a twenty-dirham note, one black with grease and smelling
of ginger and cinnamon from the thousands of previous owners who'd esten only with three fingersand
their thumb.

Asnight fell hed wandered the oily smoke of Djemaa e Fnas famous barbeques and watched belly
dancers, covered from head to toe in thick white dresses which were sewn with golden chains that
perfectly accentuated the fullness of their breasts and the divide of their buttocks.

A manin aloosejelabahad grabbed his own balls and jiggled them up and down in Charlie Bilberg's
direction as Charlie turned away from the belly dancers, and he ill didn't know if thiswas adeadly insult
or an offer to come back to his hotdl in Hivernage.

And in between dl this, Agent Bilberg had sat a adesk in hisfirst-floor room and listened to the
recording of an interrogation which was every bit as unhel pful as he'd been led to believe.

"Okay," said aFrench-sounding voice. "When did this start?"
"Y esterday morning, about five."

The man answering wasn't CIA. An interrogator trained at Langley would have said "O five hundred.”
The agent listening to the recording while smultaneoudy skimming atranscript to check its accuracy was
glad of that. A few of the things the voice had been saying made Charlie very nervous indeed.

Onapadinfront of him sat his notes. Little more than a handful of words and none of these rang any
bells. A folder from the office stood open next to the notepad. The only memo inside announced that the
CIA, the FBI and the NSA had no record of this man's fingerprints but that searches at alocd level were
being ingtigated. Interpol had a so been derted, a P13 going out to all European forces.

The hotel room was larger than Charlie had expected, with abathroom off to one side, asmple desk in
the main room and atelevision that managed to get haf a dozen channdls, most of themin Arabic.

"And what happened at five?' The French accent probably counted for little. Almost every doctor who
gpoke English in North Africaspokeit with aFrench accent, such were the accidents of history.

"Oh," sad the American voice. "Weinjected another thirty milligramsof pslocybin..."

Downing hisfifth coffee of the morning, Charlie Bilberg skimmed the next fifteen pages of transcript,
barely reading the medica examination and the part where the doctor gave her permission for " Prisoner
Zero's' interrogation to continue. (So someone at the Langley press office had thoughtfully labelled their
captive. Charlie had his own views about giving catchy labelsto criminds. Asfar as he was concerned it
only encouraged them.)



Charlie jumped the recorder forward to the last intelligible block of answersand lit hisfirst cigarette of
the day, drawing smoke into hislungs.

"Who helped you?"'
"Mdika"
"Who'sMdika?'
"Someone Moz knew."

Both names were currently being fed into the NSA system. If this produced no leads then the names
would be passed to the European database in Brussdls. Charlie wasin favour of releasing them now at
local leve, but this had been overruled by Paula Zarte hersdlf, everybody's new boss a Langley.

Two odd numbers added together always made an even. Two evens added together never made an odd.
If anumber isdivisble by eeven the sum of itsdternate digitsisaways equd, say 121 (gpart from when
zero messed up the sequence). It wasirrdevant if thefirst 119 decimal places of vacuum energy exactly
cancelled because it was what happened with the 120th that mattered. ..

There was no end to the information that Prisoner Zero gpparently wanted to share. Speed-didling a
contact he'd been given at the NSA, Charlie zoned out ablock of pure cracker-box maths while listening
to his cdll phone go unanswered.

"Chaosen of what?' said avoice, when Charlietuned in again.
"Of heaven..."
A sound, like someone sighing. "And what exactly isthat supposed to mean?”

The silence which followed was broken by the flick of alighter, the old-fashioned kind, and an
animd-like howl.

"Wd|?'

"Incomprehensble’ read an anonymous, hand-scrawled note next to the relevant section of transcript.
Not that Charlie Bilberg needed this. The exact time of each statement was printed in the margin. A gap
of eighteen minutes occurred between that question and its answer. The hand-scrawled note recorded
that the prisoner was conscious during this entire period and was not undergoing any additiona form of

heavy questioning.

Thetime track was designed to make sure any taped confession would stand up in court. The Agency
could do without some judge throwing out key evidence on the basisthat most of it was cut and paste.

Personally, Charlie thought that using atime track was an excellent ideg, dthough he wasin aminority.
Hewasn't hopelesdy naive, however. Agent Bilberg had agood idea of exactly what had been doneto
Prisoner Zero before the man arrived at a point where he was prepared to make his statement.

Not dl of it involved violence.

Running back, Charlie listened carefully, one hand againgt his ear to cut out noise from the room's
overhead air-conditioning. "Chosen of heaven,” that was definitely what the prisoner said.

On hiswall behind the dressing table was a socket labelled "5-star hotel Net," so he plugged in his Sony
Vaio and waited for the little [gptop to recognize the connection, then hefed in his room number and



Amex details. The price was ahundred dirham aday, about ten dollars.

Google gave him aBaptist site, chapter five of Ivanhoe by Walter Scott, some mediocre poetry, a
ministry dedicated to the New Holy Craoss of the Rosy Dawn and ahandful of referencesto assorted
verses from the Old Testament, none of which looked likely.

Shutting down his laptop, Charlie went back to the recording, matching what was said word-for-word
againg thetranscript in front of him.

"Like Equa of Heaven, only that'sthe monkey..." The answer, like the question, wasin English, its
durring most probably explained by the medical prescriptions stapled to the back of the transcript.

Three hallucinogens, two sedatives and a painkiller mostly prescribed in childbirth but aso used for
lowering inhibitions. One of the sedetives and dl of the halucinogenswereillegd inthe US, which was
fine because this wasn't the US and the various doctors who'd signed the prescriptions were not
American. Charlie Bilberg had been careful to check.

"What makesyou Chosen?
“I'mnot..."
"Youjust said you were."

Thereply, when it came, was too muffled to make out, the transcript using arow of Xsto show that this
line of didogue was beyond deciphering.

"Thisispointless” said avoice Charlie hadn't heard before. " The man barely knowswhat he's saying.”
"More chance of getting the truth.”

A snort, but the voicefdl silent asthe first man went back to his questions. " This group of yours, who
leedsthem?’

"Group?'

"Who leads the Chosen of Heaven?' The way the interrogator snarled this question made clear his belief
that CoH wereterrorists on alevel with d Qaeda, the Baathist Party or the Taliban. "Well?

"Only one person is chosen," said Prisoner Zero. "And only the darkness knows how heis selected.”

The slence which followed this made clear that it was not the answer the interrogator had wanted or
been expecting.

CHAPTER 3
Marrakech, Summer 1969

The summer Moz turned seven astray word crawled into his ear and ate itsway to hisbrain, whereit set
up anest that spawned questions, which tunnelled into the jelied ignorance indde his head, changing the
way hethought and saw and smdlt things.



He began to see patterns behind the patterns to be found in zdllije work on the walls of mosques and
public fountains. Certain tile formations repested and mirrored themselvesin ways people did not at first
redize. A beating from an imam taught the one-armed boy that not everyone wished to have this genera
ignorance pointed out, S0 helearnt tolie.

From ascrap of guidebook found behind a bush on the edge of Jardin Agueda helearnt that his home
was seventeen hundred feet above sealevel and forty milesfrom the High Atlas, whose peaksrose
another twelve thousand feet. Eight miles of wall circled the Red City, broken by twelve great gates,
each bab giving itsnameto a quartier of Marrakech. The circling wall was made of pisé, mud mixed
with lime and straw. Moz wasn't too sure what miles and feet were, so he added thisto hislist of
guestions that needed answering.

Shit smeared the page, but Moz didn't mind. Having scraped the square of paper clean, hewashed itina
fountain and pegged it on his mother's clotheslineto dry in the sun. These daysit lived in asmall
cardboard box under his bed aong with three Spanish coins, aplastic Biro that no longer worked and an
Opind knife with a broken blade.

No one he asked knew how long amile was.

Moz forgot to do the jobs his mother gave him and cared so little that he barely noticed her irritation turn
from anger to worry. He ate less, dept less and tasted nothing. Eventually he ran out of people to ask.
That was when he redized hisworld wasredly quite small.

It was Sidi ould Kasim, the old army corpora who lived on the ground floor, who told Moz he'd been
infected. Sat on hiswooden stool outside thetiny housein Derb Y assin on the edge of the old Jewish
quarter, he scowled at the one-armed child and sipped at atea glass which contained three mint leaves
floating in neat marc, brandy digtilled from little more than pips and skin. Everyonein the Mdlah knew
what his glass contained but no one mentioned it. The Corporal's temper saw to that.

Corporal ould Kasm, Mdika, Moz's mother and Moz lived in the same narrow house, where the dark
aley of Derb Y assin intersected with an even tighter passage, one too decrepit and dark to merit aname
or even gppear on amap. The Corpora and his daughter occupied the downstairs while Moz and his
mother occupied both of the rooms upstairs and everyone shared the roof as somewhere to dry washing
or tore furniture so worthless asto be unsdllable,

"l said,” ould Kasim demanded, "who told you about miles anyway?'

No onetold me, Moz wanted to say. | discovered them for mysdlf from a nasrani's shit scraper, when |
was meant to be collecting skhina.

Skhina were the pots of eggs, meat and vegetables which got baked every Friday for the Yehoudia ill
living in the Mdlah. Moz worked odd days for Maallan Mohammed, a master baker who owned the
nearest bread oven and the maallan charged double for Jews.

Thiswas not areply Moz could give and besides, feet and mileswere just ungpecified measurements hed
stumbled over and kept sstumbling, as Moz aways did until he found his answers.

"Areyou deaf aswell as stupid?”

There were some who said ould Kasm was a police informer and afew who believed he was nosy by
inginct. Most just thought he'd never recovered from hiswife catching afever. Because Lellawas dead,
when something went wrong he hit his daughter instead.



"He's not stupid,” Moz's mother said, coming out to collect her son from where he stood in the street, too
afraid to walk past the old Corpord. "He just seesthingswe don't..."

Sidi ould Kasm could not understand why Moz's mother would not marry him. Shewasforeign, ill and
poor, a German woman who no longer even wrote to her family. Whereas he had a pension from Peris, a
city held help liberate, and owned a Croix de Guerre as proof. It was asmall pension by French
standards but more than enough to keep aman living in this city. Certainly enough to ensure that any
woman he married would never need to work again.

All the same, Dido kept refusing and the old man with his stoal, filthy jellaba and frayed boots took her
refusas badly. He blamed Moz and in this ould Kasm wasright. If not for her son Dido would probably
have married the Corporal to get away from what her life had become.

"All he doesisdream," Sidi ould Kasim told the woman. " Dream stupid dreams and make up lies.”
Moz shook his head.

"And what's that he's got now?"

"Just amagazine," Moz protested. "1 found it.”

"American muck," the Corpora said crosdy. "Soon you won't beany use at dl.” Taking the magazine
from Moz's hand, he opened it a random. A half-naked negro with her brat, aman wearing aglass
helmet and aboy holding aMolotov cocktall.

"Y ou shouldn't let him read this," he told Dido, tearing that week'sissue of Time intwo. And so Moz
missed knowing that Apollo had reached the moon and famine had killed thousandsin Biafrawhile
violence stalked the dums of Northern Ireland.

Later, when his mother had gone out to work and ould Kasim was back on his stool, watching boys
scrgp and small girls hurry home with wild snalsfor that evening's soup, Moz clambered over the edge of
the roof, dropped onto a pile of crates stacked againgt the side of their house and jumped from here to
the ground. All this he did one-handed.

Mogt of his magazine was gone, used to set afirein the grate of ould Kasam'skitchen, but what little was
left Moz took to abench in the Jardin Agueda, working meaning from the letters by the light of adying
un.

From where he sat, Moz could see astork’s nest st like aturret on the city walls. The comforting smell
of warm dung rose from two donkeys tethered under atree behind him. There were other smells
warming the air, charcoa from abread oven and grilled meat, goat probably. He could amost taste the
greasy smoke asit drifted from a house on the other side of the gate.

And then Moz put his hunger aside and turned to the scraps of magazine. Therewasawall in Chinaso
big it could be seen from space. Thiswall wasin urgent need of repair. Solid objects were not redlly solid
but made from vibrations. Clever people bdieved more worlds than one might exist. And one day
machines might be smarter than humans (although the person writing said thiswas unlikely).

Even after held laborioudy spelt words out one letter at atime, saying them doud to the darkening sky,
many remained hard, but their meaning could sometimes be guessed from smpler words on either side.

And so the parasite entered his brain and changed everything. It changed how Moz saw life now that he
knew nothing was as it seemed and the wall on which the storks nested, his roof and the scraps of torn
magazine in his hand were made of spaces between vibrations which moved around each other, attracting



and repdling.

Thisknowledge ate out the certainties of hislife and kept eating until it changed the way things felt
benesth his hand. Somehow everything in the Mellah became less solid and more ghostlike than it had
been before.

Hetaked to a Sufi at the mosque near Dar S Said, where Rue Zitoun € Jedid met an dley that cut
through to Rue Zitoun € Kedim. It was a small mosgue and not asimportant as LaKoutoubia or the
mosgue in Quartier Berima, which was nearer but aso opposite the Royal Paace.

The Sufi was one of acircle of old men who sat cross-legged on abench outside, talking quietly among
themselves. It took Moz three weeks to summon the courage to approach the man because Hgjj Rahman
was the oldest and wisest of those who met each day.

Like Marrakech'sfamous red walls, La Koutoubia and many of the city's older buildings, the sides of the
little mosque were pocked with square holes | eft by wooden scaffolding from when it was built many
years before. The city's pigeons and doves had been squatting in them ever since.

"Please..." Moz said.

The Sufi looked up to see asmall boy with an empty deeve pinned crudely to the front of hisjellaba
"What isit?" he demanded.

The one-armed boy shuffled hisfeet and tugged at the neck of athreadbare gown. He had flour on his
fingers and a chunk of bread bulged from his pocket, neither of which was appropriate for the placein
which he found himsdif. In between shuffling hisfeet and glancing at the Sufi, the boy seemed to be
matching pigeonsto their holesinthewall.

"Areyou in trouble?' Boyswere sent to him for punishment, mostly by mothers who believed he could
change things he could not. "Well?' demanded the Sufi.

"No morethanusud..."

Hajj Rahman smiled, examining the boy properly for thefirgt time. His hair was dark blond, which was
not unusua in the Atlas. He had the sallow skin of a Berber and cheekbones to match, but his eyeswere
amost black. The Sufi could not remember having seen him before.

"What's your name?"

"Turg."

The old man shook hishead. ™Y our name," he said, "not where your father comes from.”
"That'swhat people call me," the boy answered, his voice apologetic.

"And your father," the Sufi asked, "does he call you Turk?"

“No," sad Moz, "heleft."

"Y our mother then." For a second the man looked thoughtful. ™Y ou do have amother?’
Moz nodded. "She calsmeMoz."

"Short for what?'



"l don't know," said the boy. "She's German,” he added, asif one might explain the other.

"And your father was Turkish." Hajj Rahman nodded to himsdf as everything fell into place. He knew of
this boy, whose mother sold majoun, cakes of marijuana, to foreigners on Djemaad Fnaand sometimes
went to their beds.

"Tel mewhy you're here," said the Sufi, but Moz just stood there. A couple of times his mouth opened
and then he dropped his eyes and turned away.

"l ad, tdl me”
"It wasastupid question,” said Moz. "I'm sorry."
"Let mebethejudge," ordered the Sufi.

There are some who believe there are no stupid or unnecessary questions. Hgjj Rahman was not one of
those. Almost every mgjor question which could be asked had already been answered, either in the Holy
Qur'an or the Hadith, the sayings and case law of 1damic wisdom or by the Sufi masters.

"I've been trying to find out about things.”

"Ah," saidtheman, "l see..." Tugging at hisbeard, Hgjj Rahman adjusted hisjellaba until he could Sit
more comfortably. "Whet things?'

The Sufi treated the boy's question with great dignity. A far greater dignity than he would have shown to
someone twice the boy's age.

Moz gestured to the crowded street and to those wheeling carts or riding past on tiny motorbikes or
dodging thistraffic, then heincluded himsdlf and the old man with the white beard.

"Ah." Hgj Rahman smiled. ™Y ou wish to know about God."
"No," said Moz, as politely as he could. "Mostly | want to know about atoms and how long amileis."”

"Whatever they are,”" said Hgjj Rahman, "the one made the other.” At the Sight of the boy's puzzled
frown, the old man gestured that Moz should join him on the bench.

Thisthe boy did, awvkwardly.

"There are ninety-nine names of God," explained the Sufi. "The Merciful, the Subtle, the
Apparent... These are written. Without knowing it, we al search for the Hundredth Name.”

Moz didn't mean to be rude. He was just too surprised to remember to be polite, even to ahgjj. "Says
who?" he asked.

"It'sagreed,” said the Sufi. "And everyoneislooking, including you.”

Glancing at the boy, he saw matted hair and broken nails, fingers grimed with dirt and flour and an
oversized jellabathat wasfilthier fill. And then he looked beneath this and saw hunger, of akind not fed
by food.

"Thisword," said Moz

"Which one?'



"Thename"
"Who said it was aword?' Hgjj Rahman asked.
"Youdid."

"No," said the Sufi. "That's not what | said at dl. It could be asunset or a perfect number. A pattern of
tiles so beautiful that suicides decideto live. Not having found it, how can anyone know what thisname
might be?"

"It could be a number ?'

"Of course," said the Sufi. "It could also be a perfect note, afaling leaf. There are seventy-two paths
open to humanity." He gestured to the mosque beside them. "Beauity is only one of them...Y ou know
what writing is?'

Moz scowled. Of course he knew.
"Everything iswritten," said the Sufi.
If dl thingswerewritten, then..."l don't understand,” said Moz, "everything is decided in advance?'

"No." The Sufi shook hishead. " Everything iswritten. All pathsand al posshilities, but you should not
worry yourself about this." He smiled at the boy, face thoughtful. "In fact,” he said, "many people do not
worry about suchthingsat al."

It was only after Moz had thanked the Sufi and Ieft that he redlized he till didn't know the length of a
mile

CHAPTER 4
Marrakech, Thursday 7 June

Prisoner Zero had been tried in his absence. The blond CIA man had been careful to explain that
internationa law alowed thisto happen. Hed been tried by amilitary commission, found guilty and
condemned to desth, which trand ated asfive thousand milligrams of penthanol, followed by ahundred
milligrams of pancuronium bromide.

In handing him over, the M oroccan government was merely meeting itslegd obligations. A military
commission had tried him because his attack on the President was deemed an act of war. And his
confession had been accepted as sufficient proof of guilt.

Prisoner Zero knew this. It had already been explained to him by an officia from the Interior Ministry, a
fat Souari in acrumpled suit who ended his brief vist by asking if Prisoner Zero wished to apped directly
to the King. (On the birth of his sonin 2003, Hassan V1 had freed 9,459 prisoners and reduced the
sentences of another 38,599.)

Taking Prisoner Zero's silence as anegative, the officia breathed asigh of rdief, introduced the man
besde him as an American agent and hammered on the door, demanding that the guard outside let him
out of the cell. He didn't bother to say goodbye to Agent Bilberg or Charli€'s new prisoner.



Only when the officid was gone did Charlie Bilberg introduce himself. The suit Charlie wore was
charcod, but cut from summer-weight Italian wool, and hiswhite shirt had single cuffs which displayed
enamel Langley cufflinks. He looked, he hoped, asthe new breed of CIA operative was meant to look.

"Charles Bilberg," Charlie said, hisvoicetinged with old Boston. "I'll be going with you to the airfied.” If
he was surprised that the prisoner he'd come to collect was naked and shackled by alength of chain he
didn't let it show.

Staying in thefetid cell long enough to explain to Prisoner Zero that he was about to be moved, such
explanations being part of Langley'slatest policy, Charlie retreated to the governor's office and suggested
Prisoner Zero be hosed down and found an old jellaba, shoes and dark glasses. Only then would he be
relieving the governor of his burden,

So now Charlie sat on the rear seat of a battered Peugeot 306, seven cars back from a prison van with
blackened windows, while asilent Moroccan police officer hunched behind the petite taxi's steering
wheedl and cast glances a Prisoner Zero in the driver's mirror.

"It'sfine" said Charlie, tugging at the handcuffs which attached the prisoner to hisleft wrist. "Stop
worrying."

Getting thisjob was agood sign. It showed the Agency had faith in hisinitiative and work skills. The fact

Marrakech was a Berber city and he was the only person in the section to speak rudimentary Chleuh, the
sde effect of anot-so-long-gone summer spent hiking in the High Atlas, was purely coincidenta. Charlie

Bilberg knew this, he'd been told so by his section head.

Charliewas hat, the petite taxi lacked anything as sophisticated as air-conditioning, his summer-weight
suit was beginning to look asif heldd dept in it and the edginess of the smal Moroccan at the whed was
making him nervous. "Look," said Charlie, turning to the prisoner shackled to hiswrigt. "Maybe we can
do aded."

Since Prisoner Zero had aready been condemned to degth, this seemed lessthan likely. Anyway, the
prisoner was far too busy concentrating on a'Y amaha 125 stalled in the traffic to pay the agent's words
much attention.

He'd had adirt bike very like that when he was akid. An older mode, obvioudy, but not that much
older. It seemed there were still sdewalk mechanicsin Avenue Houman d Fetouaki who could machine
replacement partsfor cars and motorbikes most people in the West had forgotten even existed.

What made this bike interesting was itsrider, aboy in ablack leather jacket and open-faced Shoel
despite the blistering heat and the fact that no one, but no one, in Marrakech ever bothered with helmets
or protective clothing.

The Y amahawas atwo-stroke, single cylinder. One of those sit-up-and-beg bikes with long forks and
al-terrain tyres, its exhaust tucked beneath the saddle. Originaly shipped as 125¢cc, some kid from the
tanneries had obvioudy rebored the pot and stripped off the mudguards.

So now, on agood day, the bike whined like awounded wasp and spat oily smoke. Unfortunately it also
overhested, choked and died on aregular basis. Which was how a suicide bomber with enough
ex-Soviet C4 wrapped round hiswaist to take out an armoured van found himself on the approach to a
roundabout, frantically trying to kick start a dead engine as histarget drove past, police bikesto the front
and rear.



"You ligening?' Charlie Bilberg said, glancing a his prisoner. Only Prisoner Zero just kept staring after
the rider now disgppearing behind them.

"Guess not," said the man.

Up ahead the crawling prison van was being beaten with fists like some recalcitrant donkey. A crowd
hammered againgt its dit windows and twisted &t the handles on itsrear doors, the noise of their fury lost
beneath the frustrated how! of srensfrom stalled police bikes and the low thud of a helicopter overhead.

"Aren't your people going to do anything about that?*

Charlie didn't know the name of the driver who glanced back at this question and smiled, but he knew
the man'srank and it was high enough to have Charlie worried. Brigadiers made for unusua chauffeurs,
even a such unusud times.

"Rdax," sad thesmal man. "Thisisfor show only. | have my own menin the crowd."
"Where?' Charlie demanded.

The Brigadier grinned. "Who do you think's hammering on that van?' They were now three cars back
from the decoy, which actudly trandated as them, plus another two completely innocent petite taxis,
three donkeys and at |east five mopeds, a cheap scooter and three cycles: because that was how most
peoplein this overhot and dusty city seemed to travel, on foot or on two whedls. Charlie Bilberg was till
trying to work out if private cars were banned insde the walls of the Medinaor if no one could afford
them.

All held seen were grande taxis, which went everywhere, petite taxis that seemed to belocal, smadll
flatbed trucks grafted to scooters and more donkeys and mopeds than he knew existed.

Colond Borgenicht's plan, created in conjunction with the Brigadier, with Charlie Bilberg asssting, was
that the decoy took the flak should there be an angry crowd, while an AH-64 overhead ostensibly kept
an eye on the black van but actually protected the petite taxi in which the man washed.

Charlie dtill found it hard to think of the silent figure shackled to his ankle as Prisoner Zero, athough this
was how news stations across the world were now referring to him, so Charlie thought of him as"him."
The man who dotted afifty-year-old bullet into a hundred-year-old rifle and tried to put a quarter-ounce
of copper-jacked lead through the head of the President of the United States over adistance that even a
fully trained sniper would have found near impossible.

There had been incumbents of the White House who Charlie Bilberg could understand complete
strangers wanting to kill, some of them quite recent, but Gene Newman was different. For agtart, this
President was honest, intelligent and able to wak, chew gum and talk foreign policy at the sametime.

Add aPhD in physicsand an MBA from some fancy economics school in London and three languages,
two of them fluent, and the guy was a dream ticket. So why, given that President Newman was currently
demanding that Tel Aviv get itstanks off the new Palestinian premier's lawn, should some deadbest Arab
want him dead?

Charlie Bilberg was damned if he knew.

"If thisgets ugly, you die," said Charlie, wincing a the bandity of hiswords. It was catching, talking like
this. A fact hisgirlfriend had taken to pointing out on adightly too regular basis.



A new-issue Colt automatic lay in Charlie's Iap, its make and model unrecognized by the Brigadier and
completely unknown to Prisoner Zero, who sat blank eyed, watching jellaba-clad boys run towards the
van up ahead. A split to hislip had opened again, where held worried an old scab with histeeth, and
dark blood now trickled into his beard.

"Y ou got that?"

"Yes," said the Brigadier, "he's got that. And he's not going to answer, believe me. If he was going to say
anything useful held have said it aready. Now put the gun away before someone seesit.”

Charlie Bilberg sighed. A Pentagon officia was on record asingsting the prisoner spoke English, French
and Berber, aswell as Arabic, but so far there was no sign that this shell of aman retained the ability to

gpesk any languagesat dl.

Mind you, the same Pentagon officid aso had him down asabrilliant sirategi<t, terrorist banker and
crack shot. Sightly begging the question why, if he was so brilliant, held tried to shoot the President from
too far away with a broken-down antique.

"We could till cut adeal, you know," said Charlie. Y ou give us the Chosen of Heaven network and the
CIA will dowhat it can do to get your sentence commuted. Maybe you could serve your time here, in
Morocco."

"Agent Bilberg..."

The gaze of the man in front flicked towards the driving mirror, frown lines blossoming around his dark
eyes. Silencewasin order and no one was to speak, behave oddly or draw attention to themsalves. All
this had aready been agreed. In fact, Rabat had indgsted oniit.

But escorting Prisoner Zero from aMarrakech jail to an aready secured landing site beyond Jardin
Aguedal, while the van headed for a duplicate sitein the huge groves of Oliveraie de Bab Jedid, was
Charligsfirg redly big job. Getting information on the network which ran Prisoner Zero would make
Charlie with the Agency for life.

"Tadk tome" Charlieingsted, ignoring the scowl inthe mirror. "Let's seeif we can't work something
out..." Besde him the prisoner nodded, the movement so dight asto beingtinctive. And just as Charlie
got ready to fed eated, he redized that Prisoner Zero was actudly nodding to asmall dirt bike which
drew alongside and then surged past the petite taxis in atrail of oily smoke, horn blasting.

Weaving round adonkey cart, the rider dodged between a grande taxi and ayounger boy on abike,
did himself between two old men frozen in the act of trying to crossthe road, accelerating right up to the
point he dammed his bike straight into the back of the prison van.

Thirty-two pounds of Soviet C4 ripped apart the bike, finishing off not just its thirteen-year-old rider but
adozen of those who'd been hammering angrily on the sSides and rear of the van.

The van itsdf was flipped over and tossed onto a police outrider, crushing man and bike utterly. Unable
to escape from hisbuckled cab, the van's driver burned up in front of a suddenly frozen crowd. Thosein
the back were dready dead, flame withering their corpses as surely asit stripped paint from the twisted
carcass of the prison van.

"Merde," said the Brigadier.

Charlie glanced from the burning van to hisdriver, then redized the Brigadier was actudly watching
vapour trailsrip towards the Apache helicopter overhead. The Peugeot's roof stopped Charlie seeing



which one connected with the AH-64'stall but he felt the impact, the whole of the Medinafdt the impact,
and then the combat helicopter was tumbling over itself on the way down.

Given that the Apache had been hovering dmost directly over the prison van, it was perhapsinevitable
that it should hit one of the pam treeslining the route, about a hundred paces from the site of the bomb.

"Weleave," said the Brigadier, and spun hiswhed, the petite taxi splintering adonkey cart asthe
Peugeot dammed into reverse, executed a quick turn and raced away from the screaming crowd. A loud
thud said that a pedestrian hadn't got out of theway in time. After that, everyone stepped well back.

"Where are you taking us?'
"Back to the prison.”

"No." Charlie Bilberg was adamant. "We take him to the landing Site. The areas dready secure. There's
a'copter waiting."

"If that's what you want." The Brigadier had just seen a$17.5 million AH-64 attack helicopter brought
down by ahandful of ex-Soviet ground-to-airs. If the young CIA man couldn't seethe flaw in hisown
logic, then too bad. Anything that got Prisoner Zero out of Morocco was fine with the Moroccan
authorities.

Plus, and this was what mattered, anyone watching would believe Prisoner Zero dead, ripped apart by
the bomb, and within an hour most of the world would have joined them.

All the Brigadier had to do was drive his vehicleinto the Medina, out through the gate at Bab Agnaou,
run it round a short section of Marrakech's famous red walls and drive camly to the Jardin Aguedal.

"Okay," hesaid. "Let'sdo it your way."

Caid Hammou flicked shut his Nokia and frowned. What the immaculately suited old man wanted to do
was stand up, stamp over to asmall group eyeing him anxioudy through the doorway of his shop and
dap them slly for unbdievable stupidity. Instead he Spped dowly at aglassof mint teaand smiled a a
tourist couple sitting opposite, reveding one gold tooth.

The English were pink and wide eyed. Sightly anxiousto find themselves sat on a bench discussing prices
when they'd only intended to browse.

"My wife," said Hammou, putting down his cdll phone, "awayswantsto talk. Now. Y ou like this one?
Very beautiful. Made in Switzerland. It says so on the back.” The replica Rolex was assembled in
mainland China, had adid printed directly onto white metal and used a cheap quartz movement held in
place by awhite plagtic ring.

Hammou watched the Englishman scowl, then peer at a narrow second hand which jerked forward,
second by second, instead of sweeping cleanly asit would if the watch were redly automatic.

"That'squartz," the Englishman said.

"Or maybethis?' said Hammou smooathly, pulling out awatch at random to find himsalf holding agarish
copy of asmall Cartier dresswatch, the bezel decorated with twelve "diamonds® too cheap evento be
cubic zircon. "For your beautiful wife...Buy two watchesand | can give you a better price.”



Sipping again a histea, which he'd siweetened with ablock of sugar the size of histhumb, the elderly man
amiled asthe Englishwoman ingtinctively sipped a her own and winced &t its bitterness. Somehow
tourists never seemed to understand that mint teawas meant to be sweet and sticky.

"Youlikethis?'

Hammou watched the man discard the fake Cartier without a second glance and turn over the Rolex to
examine a cheap crown stamped into the clip of its metal strap. He was shaking his head.

"I tell youwhat," Hammou said, "for you | get something better." He waved in the generd direction of the
group outside. "My cousins. Y ou have alook round here, while | find you something specid. It'sal right,
| trust you. But if someone else comesin, you make sure you make asale, okay?!

The English couple laughed dutifully and Hammou let himsdlf out, heading straight for a shop acrossthe
passageway. Asif on cue, those waiting outside followed himiin.

"Okay," Hammou sad, "whereis he?'
"Inapetite taxi headed towards the gardens.”
"So why haven't you got him?'

"He's got company.”

"The blond American." Hammou nodded like thiswas obvious. "We expected that," he said. "I till don't
seethe problem.”

"Abbas." The boy who spoke was thin-faced, histeeth bad and his gaze turned inwards to something
dark and lonely. The boy on the bike was his brother, both boys from afamily that owed Caid Hammou
aserious and hitherto unpayable debt. Glancing uncertainly towards a thickset, rather dapper
middle-aged man, he waited for the man to expand on this explanation.

"Brigadier Abbasisdriving thetaxi himsdf," said Hammou's nephew. "We didn't know whét to--"

"Okay," Hammou said, voicetight. "I understand.” He wanted to add, et me think, but to do so would
reveal weakness. So instead he told the youngest to make mint tea.and began to sort through atray of
Hong Kong replicas, dl of them stamped "Swiss Made.”

The downing of the helicopter would result in arrests, beetings and probably swift and violent bouts of
illegd, unauthorized torture. Americawould demand results, and even without their demands Sécurité
would rip gpart the Medinaif that waswhat it took to find answers. Thiswasto be expected.

Tokill any member of Sécurité was something else again. Direct chdlenges were answered by direct
action, thiswas the North African way. And killing the city's Head of Sécurité, to target the Brigadier,
was asking for Marrakech to be locked down. It had happened before.

Glancing up from the tray, Hammou redlized they were dl watching him, their faces expectant but less
worried than earlier. His mere presence absolved them of respongbility for what came next.

The choicewas his, such asit wes...

"Thisoneisautomatic,” said Caid Hammou. "L ook, you can seeingde.” The old man, who had no need
to work in any shop, even one of his own, handed over areplicaof aPatek Philippe. The crocodile strap



was actually plastic and the view glass at the back was Perspex, but through it could be seen aworking
mechanism.

"You moveit from sdeto side," Hammou said, matching a gesture to hiswords, "and the watch winds
itself, no batteries needed. And it keeps perfect time. Well..." Hammou paused, asif to think about that.
"Almost perfect,” he amended. "Maybe you need to adjust it by afew seconds every week or so."

He smiled and nodded as the Englishman examined the dia and then turned the watch over to look at the
tiny gilt hairspring, beating like aheart. "1sgood, no?"

The man nodded and then the bargaining began, but not before Hammou called to a passing boy for
another tray of mint tea.

"Show them your pass,”" suggested Charlie Bilberg and Brigadier Abbastried not to sigh. He knew
Langley liked the fresh-faced look but still wished the CIA would stop recruiting children.

"If | show them my pass,”" he said heavily, "then they'll know were not redlly a petite taxi ...And so will
everyone else." His nod took in those crowding asidewalk, itself something of anovelty in that part of the
Medina, where many streets were surfaced with little more than cracked blacktop over beaten earth and
passing taxis or donkey carts forced those on foot to retreat into doorways rather than get crushed
agang crumbling walls.

"Takealook," the Brigadier suggested.

Agent Bilberg did. Seeing old men in jellabas and young men in T-shirts, teenage girlswith their hair
hidden beneath scarves and afew, better dressed, with their hair tied back and gazes defiantly bare.
Small boys stood in ahuddle around adightly larger boy who clutched aradio.

"What do you notice?'
"Thelack of smdl girls...?'

The Brigadier sucked histeeth. Maybe the CIA man was not as stupid as held thought. "Y ou'reright,” he
sad, "they're at home helping, but that wasn't what | meant. What else?*

Scanning the crowd waiting to pass through aroadblock, Charlie Bilberg thought about it. HEd been
trained to look for anxiety and for a certain tightness around the eyes or studied blankness of expresson.
An otherness, but no one looked out of place. There were afew e derly men standing aone, but none
who looked asif he were an outsder to himself or thissociety.

"Nothing," hetold the Brigadier, when the silence stretched too thin. And that wasthe truth. Charlie
Bilberg could see nothing remotely out of the ordinary. It waslike finding himself in akilling house where
every pop-up wascivilian.

"Exactly," said the Brigadier. "Ninety-five per cent of peoplein Marrakech are happy with the way things
arerun. Well, their bosses, heads of family and caids are happy, which isthe same. The other five per
cent look like everyonedse...Wewait in thisqueue.”

The roadblock was perfunctory. From the top of Bab er Robb a single stork watched two uniforms on
the road below halt cars and demand papers. When the taxi containing Prisoner Zero drew close, Charlie
Bilberg redlized the men weren't even Sécurité. They were traffic cops or maybe gendarmes, bussed in
from outsde, something locd.



A quick glance assessed the suited foreigner, the Arab driver at thewhedl and the sillent man with a
greying beard, a copy of that week's Al Sahifa open on hislap. Only the driver got asked for his papers,
which he gave willingly and took back with arespectful nod.

According to these hewas ataxi driver caled Hamid, who had aroom in ahouse near Place du Moukef
on the other sde of the Medina.

"Okay."

Slipping the Peugeot into gear, Brigadier Abbas passed through the Agnaou Gate and out of the Old
City. A long way behind him aplume of grey Hill billowed into the hot summer sky and sSrens il
sounded, though it was hard to tell if these were ambulances or police cars. Maybe they were both.

"Try theradio," Charlie Bilberg suggested.

The degth toll was currently thirty-one, including the outrider on the leading police bike and the three
occupants of the prison van, two guards and Prisoner Zero. That Prisoner Zero was dead the news flash
took for granted.

"Interesting,” Charlie Bilberg said.

"Not redly." The Brigadier's voice was dismissive, his demand for silence either forgotten or no longer
relevant. Steering his vehicle between the edge of the road and adonkey cart turning right, he headed
around the wallstowards adistant grove of palms and the beginning of atrack.

Ornamental shrubs lined both sides of the track, but these were brown and shrunken, victims of a
drought that had lasted for five years.

"That'san officid gation,” the Brigadier explained. "It sayswhat we need it to say. Y ou want to find out
what'sredly happening, try this..." Spinning the dia, he located a burst of something hard-edged and
thrashy, in pointed contrast to the al-Ala featured on the previous channel. Cal cul ator-cheap beeps took
over when the Ral ended, Sgnifying anewsflash.

Brigadier Abbas knew the young CIA agent spokelittle Arabic but still made the man wait for a
trandation until the DJsgned off, frenzied words giving way to athrash of CasablancanuRal. Even from
his seet in the back, Charlie Bilberg could tell that the Brigadier was amused about something.

"What?' he demanded.

"The bomb," said Brigadier Abbas. "Y ou ordered it."

"| ordered--"

"TheCIA."

"Bdieveme," said Charlie Bilberg, "we don't do stuff like that. Not anymore.”

"Of courseyou don't,” Brigadier Abbas said smoothly. "It ssems you persuaded an dlite force from
Isradli inteligenceto doiit for you.” The Brigadier'slaugh was as sharp asadog's bark. "Thisisgood,” he
added, "very good.”

"What's good about it?"

"Firg, it'sabsurd, so we can dismissit easily. And second..." A jerk of the Brigadier's head indicated
Prisoner Zero Sitting silently behind him. "Thisoneis dready dead, think about that. No trid, no fuss, no



media. Y ou just take him somewhere and extract every last piece of information. With pliersif necessary,
and if you don't have the ssomach | know people who do."

For asecond, asthe Brigadier dowed at the sight of aroadblock up ahead, he considered suggesting
that hejoin Agent Bilberg in the helicopter, then the Brigadier had a better idea

"Leave himwith me" he said. "WEell share anything he knows. Who'd object?"

"My bosses," said Charlie Bilberg, shaking hishead. "They know he wasnt in that van for agtart.” And
then the agent's eyesflicked to the soldier gpproaching their car and the pump-action shotgun in his hand.

"Hey," Charliesad. "Those aren't--"
Hewasright. They weren't.

Exploding glass sandblasted flesh from the Brigadier'sface. And by the time Agent Bilberg understood he
too had been hit by flying glass, one of the Brigadier's eyes was diding like broken yolk from beneath his

fingers

Theinjured Brigadier tried to say something but the windscreen had pierced histhroat and the words
were drowned benesth a froth of blood.

Charlie's own fingers came away red and sticky. His eyes were both there but hisfingers could touch
tongue where they should have found cheek. When he checked his prisoner he found the man curled
beside him on the sest.

"Put down your gun.”

The wordswere aimed at Agent Bilberg, who suddenly redlized held picked up his own Colt and was
now holding it to Prisoner Zero's head.

| don't think 0.

That waswhat Charlietried to say. He wasn't sure how much of it the man in the expensive suit with the
swept-back hair and dark glasses actudly understood. Keeping his gun firmly in place, the young CIA
man reached into his jacket and retrieved atiny cell phone, which he flicked open, speed-dialing a
number. The machine stayed dead.

Charlie Bilberg glanced towards his Siemens and tried again, checking from the corner of his eyethat
he'd punched the right button. When nothing happened hetried it on vocal, his broken voice ordering it to
did seven.

Again nothing.

Agent Bilberg was il trying to work out what he was doing wrong when the rear door yanked open and
Cald Hammou's nephew Hassan leant across Prisoner Zero and took the gun from Charlie'sright hand.
Two of the agent's fingers broke as the man twisted the Colt from his grasp.

Thelock knifein Hassan's other hand was French, the blade amix of high-carbon stedl, chrome and
molybdenum. He held it strangely, jutting from hisfist, so that he could reech in, twist away the gun and
cut the CIA agent'sthroat al in one go.

"Nasrani," Hassan said dismissively. "They get lost when their toys don't work." Picking up Charlie
Bilberg's cell phone, he tossed it to athin-faced teenager. "Dumpit,” he said. " Somewhere beyond Ben



Gugrir." Thetown he named was on the road to Casablanca, about an hour north of Marrakech.

"Turnit back on," he added, "just before you dump it. Oh...and lose thisaswell." Reaching into his
pockets, Hassan produced asmall box, then hesitated. "No," he said, tossing it to the brother of the
suicide bomber instead. "You," he said, "lose thiswhereit won't be found.”

"Will do." The boy stripped off his stolen battledress and shrugged himself into his own jellaba, suffing his
uniform into aNike holdal. He placed the cdll-phone jammer on top and zipped the bag. "The debt is

paid?’
Hassan nodded his head.
"What about that?"

"Someone e se can dedl with him. Hurry it up.” He watched the boy walk towards a clump of pams,
while he waited impatiently for the second teenager to change out of uniform.

"Comeon," Hassan said. "They'll be wondering where their petite taxi'sgone." He meant the Americans
or the Moroccan army or Sécurité. .. \Whichever mix was waiting two kilometres ahead for acar so
anonymousit contained no tracking devices.

A minute later, both foot soldiers were gone, their absence marked by the high whine of small dirt bikes.

"Well," said Hassan. "Y ou'veredly fucked up thistime." He scowled at the prisoner and then at the dead
CIA agent on the seat next to him. "Let's get this over with. What did you tell them?”

"Thetruth,” said Prisoner Zero, in avoice that sounded like wind through broken pines.
"And what did they do?'

"Kicked the chair from under me and started al over again.” The prisoner smiled, and as smileswent it
wasn't entirdy sane.

"So what did you tell them then?"

"Nothing."

"So then they demanded the truth?!

"Which| told them."

"So they kicked the chair from under you and sarted al over again?
"Y ou know how it goes," said Prisoner Zero.

"Want to tell me what brought you back to Morocco?"

Prisoner Zero thought about this and then thought some more. Finally helooked at the man who'd so
recently cut Agent Bilberg's throat and shook hishead. ™Y ou wouldn't believe me anyway.”

"What wouldn't | believe?'
"Thetruth..."

"No," said Caid Hassan, nephew of Caid Hammou and de facto boss of the city's biggest crime family.
"Probably not."



Retrieving Agent Bilberg's Calt, the el egantly dressed man dropped out the magazine and thumbed away
all the bullets but one, then gave the gun back to Prisoner Zero and nodded at Brigadier Abbas.

"Fed freg" hesaid.

CHAPTER5
Zigin Chéng, CTzu 53/Year 20

A circle can be begun at any point. The brush isheld upright in one hand with the wrist held clear of both
table and paper, the circle being drawn swiftly and confidently in one clean stroke.

A circle may begin at any point. He had been told thisas a child.

It can begin far away in astrange land, where sun-bleached palmsfill atired grove and smoke risesfrom
an ancient vehicle or it can begin closer to home, just outsde thewalls of the Zigin Cheng, or within the
Forbidden City itself. It can begin with aword or akiss, in flames or ice or the cold darkness of anight
sky with the stars|ooking down on things that should not be seen.

Although he wastired to the bone and restlesswith waiting for death the fifty-third Chuang Tzu was
nothing like as old as he felt. He was, however, exhausted. And he had been fighting with himself for
longer than he could remember and was till not sure who was winning. So while he wrestled with his
darkness and watched butterfliesflit across the walled garden from where he sat under atree, he
considered something rather miraculous.

A killer was coming, the merest dip of ayouth with barely enough life lived to cast ashadow. The
Chuang Tzu was not sure whether to be upset or glad.

Beneath his cloak, the Emperor wore a chao pao, aformal court robe. In his case this robe was blue
and decorated around the neck, across the shoulders and above the hem with embroidered five-toed
dragons, conforming to the regulationsfor afirst- or second-rank prince.

It was awholly unsuitable garment for aman destined to wear imperid yellow and in choosing it the
Chuang Tzu had offended amost everyone who was not aready offended by his recent behaviour.

He had tried and probably failed to change history. He had fought battles within himself that those outside
never saw. And he had fought againgt the ruleslaid down by the Library. For any Chuang Tzu to be
killed would be shocking and the shock of his death would be felt through the empire like reverberations
through ahallow drum.

All the same, there would be many who felt such an end was to be expected and that, on balance, the
fifty-third Chuang Tzu deserved no less. The Emperor himsalf was one of these.

Settling back against awillow, the Emperor took a deep breath and let fear flow with the breath from his
body. To live or dig, the choice remained his. A single clap of the hands would be enough to summon
Generd Ch'ao Kai to the edge of the gardens.

Once ingructed, the Generd would post guards around the inner pavilions and the outer, around the
Forbidden City and even in the two surrounding cities where the ambassadors and servitorslived.



And the Generd had enough guards. Chuang Tzu had seen them exercising in front of the Wu-Men, a
gate so vadt that an entire army could muster in its shadow. Although why an n should want to kill
the ruler of the richest, most cultured empire history had ever known was a mystery that Chuang Tzu
hoped soon to have unravelled, once the two of them met.

In the meantime he had his dreams.

Dreams of afar stranger assassin arrested on the point of failure and put to questioning. It happened ina
place of wallslike the walls which surrounded Chuang Tzu's city, only these were of beaten earth, lime
dust and straw and the sun overhead was hotter than the one Chuang Tzu knew.

The Streets of this city were dirty and the treeslining the wider roads were shrivelled from drought and
burnt dong the edges of their fronds, but the walls of both cities had one distinct smilarity, despite their
differencein magnificence and congruction.

Both werered.

Because the Chuang Tzu knew that meaning could be found within coincidence and his daydreams were
as sgnificant as any which camein the night, he considered this point serioudy and decided that the
redness of the wallswas probably important. And there was a chance, not agood chance admittedly,
that he might come to understand this significance before he waskilled.

It would be ashort reign, merdly twenty years, and an inglorious one. And its end would be as strange as
its start, which began with a butterfly and a small boy being sent to bed without supper.

Mirrored eyes had swallowed the sight of endless, utterly identical smal boys, amillion Zags. The
butterfly who stared at him was red, the size of asmall plate and had fat black spots on each wing,
though when Zag looked closdly he redlized the spots were somewhere between purple and ultraviol e,
their edges both fractal and recursive.

There was adifference, apparently.
Zag had never met a butterfly the size of abird. Actudly, he wasn't sure hed ever met abird.

"In the Carboniferous period,” said the butterfly, "even mayflies had wingspans this big. Mind you, back
then there was so much oxygen in the atmosphere that forests burned when wet..."

That was when Zag knew he was dreaming.
"Yesand no," the butterfly said.

It rested on the edge of Zaqg's bed, which was actually adoor that was held off the ground by rocks at
each corner. A hundred or so holes had been drilled in the door, a hand-breadth apart, so that Zag's
mattress could breath. His brother Eli was very proud of this.

The butterfly looked around.

And what it saw, kaleidoscope-like through the endless facets of its Silver eyes, waswhat it expected to
see. A shitty little shack built from sheet plastic and cheap blocks of polycrete, roofed with arancid
canvas avning in what had once been alanding pad for hoppers.

There were two ways the butterfly knew this. The first wasthat afaded "H" could still be seen etched



into the ledge on which Zag's mother had built her house, the second was that the butterfly could
remember when Rip had briefly been fashionable. In those daystiny silver hoppers had buzzed around
the non-world like blowflies.

Opinion was divided on Rip's exact provenance, but then opinion in the 2023 worldswas divided on
most things, with a sizeable minority believing that the thousand-kilometre jumble of sted and extruded
ceramic was an art form and the Razor's Edge, that long scar down its Side, a statement about futility.

The hoppers were toysfor the rich in worlds where such definitions had become meaningless, because
poverty was an abstraction and hunger alife choice, like living dangeroudy, monogamy or dying of
natural diseases.

That was the theory, anyway.

"Y ou don't have the faintest ideawhat I'm talking about, do you?"
The smal boy shook his head.

Of course he didn't. New emperorsrarely did.

When Zag awoke he waslying in sunlight and such was hisfear of the unexpected brightnessthat he
rolled straight off his bed and underneath atable, crouching in the safety of its shadow. Somehow the
whole of Rip had revolved, so that the glassed-over rip within which Zag's village squatted now faced a
gap between the worlds above. Their village had become desirable overnight.

Eli had touded hishair, let him play with therat and laughed a him, and when that didn't work his mother
sent Zag to bed without supper. Since the shack had only one room, food was ararity and what with
there being no front door and holesin the roof and no one would be deeping that night, thiswas more for
show than anything else.

"Za..."

Morning came broken. And only the butterfly understood how Rip kept to its new orbit beyond the edge
of the 2023 worlds, but then the butterfly knew why gravity gill held long after the eectricity was gone
and most of the food boxes stopped producing food. There had been asystemsfailure on Rip forty-eight
centuries earlier, four thousand eight hundred and three yearsto be exact.

"What?'
Zag looked at his mother.

"Four-thousand-eight-hundred-and-three...." She said the words without understanding because the
highest number Mariaknew was twelve, which had been her age when she met Eli'sfather: A scavenger
with scars older than she was and hard connections, the kind that paid him in knives, medicine and food.

After Gabrid had come Eddie, who traded metals for food.
"Scrap," Zag said, looking at the apple she held.
"You miss Eddie?

For Zag the question was meaningless. Eddie had been with his mother for less than eighteen months,
leaving one morning to strip copper from leve fifteen of the Rip and that had been it, Eddie never



returned. Zaq had absolutely no memory of the hard-eyed man who fathered him and how could he? It
was Six months after Eddi€'s disappearance before Maria began pulling afterbirth from between her legs,
while Eli cut the cord and wiped dime from the new baby with his hands. This had been Zag's
introduction to life and many on Rip had introductions far worse.

"Four-thousand-eight-hundred-and-three," Zag said, tasting the size of the number. It sounded like
something the ghost mothers might say. " The day is gone, the night comes in and my baby islost..."
Zag knew al about the ghost mothers. Eli knew many scary stories and they stuck to theinside of Zag's
head like fliesto tar-paper.

"Here" Mariasaid. "Thiswill make you fed better.”
Acrossthe hut, Eli froze. He was older than Zag and had first choice of dl thefood. "Me," he said.

Three paces took the boy to where his brother sat with an old blanket pulled tight around him against the
shivers. On Eli's shoulder sat the rat held rescued from ashaft off the lower levels. Null had falen through
ahole and been unable to scrabble out.

Mariahated the animal, but it was hard to scold Eli when he returned from most tripswith afistful of
copper wire or acircuit tray which changed patterns every few seconds. Sheld once swapped circuitry
for enough dab mest to feed dl three of them for amonth.

"Mefird," sad Eli, hiseyesfixed on the gpple.
"Theres enough for everybody," his mother said.

Mariawaslying. A third of the apple was aready rotten and most of what was |eft was mottled with
bruising. She'd taken it as payment in the dark, redlizing too late that the sticky sweetness on her fingers
was asgn of corruption, not quality. Mariahad never seen fruit before, but the man who gaveit to her
had sworn it would make her both clever and lucky.

Thetiny bugsliving initsflesh were guaranteed to change her wholelifefor the better. Of course, the man
had said, she could dways give it to one of her sons, say the younger. The man's voice had been soft
when he said this, as sweet as ever Eddie's had been.

"Takeabite," shetold Zag.

He looked doubtful.

"I'l haveit," Eli sad.

"Zagsill," Mariainasted. "He getsfirg bite"

"I'm not," said Zag, shaking his head, mostly to stop his mother from putting her hand to his forehead to
seeif hehad afever.

"Burning up,” shetold him. "Eat it now."

"I've got afever too," announced Eli, but his brother had aready bitten into the fruit and over-swest juice
was running down the smal boy's chin.

"Yuk..."
"It'sgood,” Maria promised.



"| fed sick," said Zag and passed the gpple to Eli, who immediately took abite before Maria could stop
him.

"You have some," Eli suggested, seeing anger tighten his mother's eyes.
Mariashook her head. "Giveit to Zag," shesad.

She was a good mother who shared her food and only ever stayed out nightsif it wasimpossible to get
back. Never once had she thought about selling, killing or abandoning either of her children, no matter
how tired they made her. There were, however, limits and both Eli and Zaq understood that these had
just been reached.

So Zag did what he was told and ate everything, including the core, in silence, then licked hisfingersand
went with Eli to find fud, anything that might burn. *Magnesium would be good,”" said Zag, but his mother
was adeep and Eli was outside, lying on top of agirl Zag had never seen before.

The next morning Zag woke with arash, feding sick and muttering about M-theory, Zero Point Energy
and the luxury of oblivion. So Mariadid something sheld never believed hersdf capable of doing. She
took the gold ring Eddie had made her from circuitry, hislucky lump of black glasswhich shed stolen
and what was | eft of her beauty down twelve levels, looking for amedicine woman.

What Mariafound was Doc Joyce, ashambling figure dressed in rags and old sweat and what he wanted
was none of the above.

All he required in payment was ametal bolt Mariawore strung on a cord between her breasts. She didn't
stop to consider how he knew thistalisman existed or where she kept it hidden. The ragged man was
obvioudy ashaman, how could he not know? Waiting patiently, she stood as he undid the buttons on her
dress and stared impassively at the hexagon of grey metal.

Other men had gazed in rapture at her breasts. Not for some years, it was true, but even where shelived
in the cold thin air that fed the upper levels of Rip, strangers would occasiondly stop, catch their breath

and wonder fleetingly--in between lust and the promise of forgetfulness--about the twists of life that gave
aperfect ass, breasts and hipsto aroofwhore with two children and a scar which disfigured haf her face.

Doc Joyce barely noticed her body as hisfingers closed around the hexagon. The bolt was warm and
would remain warm long after it was taken from between her breasts. And were he to pass dectricity
through the hexagon and introduce it to the cold then the object would remain cold even if Doc Joyce
hung it on a cord and tucked it under his own rags. And the Doc aways wore rags when visiting the
intricate maze of shafts, narrow levels and hangars that made up this part of Rip. It helped to blend in
with the scenery.

The Doc had been hunting for ascrap of meta such asthisfor most of hislife, which was dready twenty
timeslonger than that of the girl ganding in front of him. His vision had been augmented to scan beneath
life's surfacelayers, his sense of smdl was acute enough to distinguish iliness from anxiety and he could
taste the presence of ahundred different metas on histongue.

That was how held known thiswas the moment held been waiting for. A taste on histongue unlike dl
others.

"Button your dress.”

The girl looked so offended that Doc Joyce dmost smiled. Every society had itsown socia currency,
even one as fractured as Rip. She traded on her beauty, he traded on hisintelligence; there wasn't that



much difference between them, no matter how impossible she would have found that thought.
"My smdl boy," shesad.

"How old?" Doc Joyce asked, firing up amedica core. Something Maria saw only asaquick blink and
sudden concentration on the part of the man.

Mariatold him.

"Y ou're rather young to have achild that old,” Doc Joyce said, reading off her biologicd age. It wasa
comment made without thinking.

Marialooked puzzled.

"Eli'solder," shesad.

CHAPTER 6
High Atlas, Monday 25 June

Ghosts hid among the holm oaks and cedar trees. Aged and amost transparent with exhaustion, they had
been driven into the High Atlas by dishdief and fundamentalism, the last being a nasrani term for long
beardsand arigid beli€f.

The ghosts had learned to distinguish those who disbelieved from those who objected by their clothes.
Disbelieverswore jeans and T-shirts mostly. Blue jeans, sometimes black and mostly tight, although a
few of the girls now wore trousers that flapped round their ankles like sails starved of abreeze.

Objectors wore three, sometimes four fists of beard, when in the old days two would have been
consdered sufficient. Like the dishelievers, they aso refused to accept the ghodts, abeit for diametrically
opposite reasons.

So the djinn wandered the city hungry and londly, spilling into absence with every new breeze. Those
who could, the ones freshly fed on belief or fear, headed for the dry woodlands of the High Atlas, where
their kind were still welcome and if not welcome then at least accepted for what they were.

The man rough plastering an arch in a haf-finished kasbah on the dopes of avaley had no trouble
believing in ghosts; but then Prisoner Zero had little trouble believing in most things, except himself.

"Nobody's worth that much,” said Idries, tossing his newspaper to the floor of the kasbah. The dust it
raised stuck to the lower edges of afreshly plastered area, extracting asigh from Prisoner Zero.

"Y ou know how much it isnow?"' Idries demanded.
Prisoner Zero didn't.

"Twenty-five million dollars. Y ou have any ideahow much thet isin dirham?Y ou want to thank God
you're among friends." There was atightnessto the small man's voice that the prisoner might have found
worrying had his mind been lesslocked into flashbacks of ghosts, burning cars and the falling ‘copter.

It was nearly three weeks since held shot the Brigadier. A time spent working himself half to death in



Hassan's kashah, unable to summon up the doubt he needed to make the ghosts vanish, whilelacking
enough faith to deny their existence.

A doctor had been introduced the first morning, a clean-shaven young man who arrived blindfolded in the
back of Idriess jeep and who dressed the burns on Prisoner Zero's slomach, listened to his heart and
peered deep into the back of his eyes using a cross between aflashlight and a magnifying glass.

"It will taketime," the doctor said.

"What will?" Idries asked.

"For the drugsto leave his system.”

"Drugs?' That was Hassan. At least Prisoner Zero thought it was, he had trouble remembering.
"Thismanisdrugged,” sad the doctor. " Surely you knew?

"Ishe?" Hassan'slaugh was hitter. "I'm surprised you can tell.”

"Aren't you going to answer that?" Idries asked eventually, after Prisoner Zero abandoned hisarch to
drag ametd ladder into the hall, sgndling Idriesto bring abucket full of rounded stones.

"Answer what?' Prisoner Zero demanded.

"Y our mobile." The rat-faced man held out a cell phone he'd spent the previous week trying to make
Prisoner Zero carry round with him.

"I don't think s0," said Prisoner Zero, putting hisladder into position.

Seen from above, Idries|ooked every bit as unprepossessing as the prisoner remembered, maybe even
worse now that athin skim of hair was al that covered the man's narrow skull. Prisoner Zero tried to
recall who'd first called Idries rat boy and gave up.

It didn't really matter. Asasmall child, Idries had been weaker than the others, or so Prisoner Zero had
been told. So what helacked in strength he decided to make up for in guile, but hismind wasn't quite as
fast asthe others ether. That was why Hassan eventually gave him aknife.

The next boy to pick on Idries got his cheek opened in asingle dash. There were two things Hassan told
Idriesto learn from that incident.

Thefirst wasthat skin stretched tight over bone splits easily and bleeds more than seems possible. The
second was that their uncle Caid Hammou was right. There are somethingsin life that need to be done
only once. Almost everybody |eft Idries done after that.

It was just after dawn and Prisoner Zero was dready tired. He'd started early, partly because, these
days, his dreams were even more complex than hislife and degp had become atougher choice than
polishing the walls, but mostly he'd started early because whole areas of the hal <till needed to be soaped
and until his tadelackt plaster was sedled it remained vulnerable to just about everything.

He knew that Idriesfound his ability to plaster both comic and disconcerting. People like him weren't
supposed to acquire the skill. Such jobs were meant to be left to those who grew up with them. And the
trick of working in tadelackt was something handed down from father to sons, afamily secret retained
by generations of plasterersin Marrakech, Fez and Rabat.



Yet dl it redly took was asmattering of basic chemistry. At least, that was all it took for Prisoner Zero.

Produced by burning limestone contaminated with clay, tadelackt was different. The sllico-auminates
from the burning combined with water to produce a plaster which alowed for hydraulic setting. Although
thered sKill, not to mention the hard work, came when the finish needed polishing. This had to be done
by hand, using theforce of aflat pebble to control crystallization. Asfor the soap, that was required to
sed the surface and impede chemica reactions, dlowing afinish as hard and smooth as polished marble.

"What's going to happen?' Idries said.
"I'm going to finish polishing," said Prisoner Zero, "then start with the black soap..."

That wasn't what Idries meant and Prisoner Zero knew it. Hassan's rat-faced cousin was there because
Caid Hammou had given him the job of babystting Prisoner Zero.

It wastypical of Hammou and Hassan to combine keeping their guest safe with making him work for his
keep, avery North African combination of exploitation and obligation which Prisoner Zero ill found
srange after dl these years.

There were twelve bedrooms in Hassan's new kashah, four bathrooms, five reception roomsand a
kitchen, built around a centra courtyard with afountain as yet unattached to any source of water, and
Prisoner Zero got the feeling Hassan intended to have him plaster them all. Idries had not even seemed
surprised that first morning to find Prisoner Zero dive when dl the papers were busy reporting him dead.

Hed just turned up, as ordered, in ajeep laden with lime plaster and rel eased Prisoner Zero from the
chair to which held been tied. That was when Prisoner Zero first redlized that being driven out to the
half-built kasbah didn't necessarily equate with being shot.

"What areyou smiling &?'
"Y our boss"

Idrieslooked worried. "What about him? No, wait..." Therat-faced man held up one hand, common
sense changing hismind. "Don't tell me. | don't want to know."

"Youthink hesgoing to kill me?"

"Cad Hammou?' Asif Prisoner Zero might mean anyone dse.

"Y eah, your uncle, the boss."

"No," sad Idries. "If he was going to do that then you'd be dead.”
"And thishouse would never get finished.”

"There are other plasterersin Marrakech,” Idries said flatly.

"Thousands of them," agreed Prisoner Zero. "So why doesn't Hassan get someone else? I've got other
thingson my mind.”

Like ghosts and dreams and a nagging, ingstent fedling that something kept looking a the world from
behind hiseyes and not liking asinglething it saw. A fedling which manifested itself asalow-leve
headache in the back of Prisoner Zero's skull where the darkness lurked.

"Hassan bdieved you were long since dead,” said Idries. "Weadl did."



Prisoner Zero thought about hisfina monthsin Amsterdam, the squat overlooking the canad and thefire.
"l was," hesad. "Then | went to Paris."

Idries made asign againgt the evil eye, hisreaction so ingtinctive it operated below the leve of conscious
thought. "Y ou shouldn't say such things.”

"Y ou weren't there," said Prisoner Zero.
"But you came back to Morocco."

"Yeah." Prisoner Zero amiled. "That's one way of putting it." Two days on achegp coach, aferry
crossing from Alicante and aweek of deeping under flowering almond trees, walnuts and findly padmsas
he hitched south, doing his best to avoid anything that looked like authority. The heroin lasted from the
real Paristo Paris sur laMer, otherwise known as Casablanca, leaving him sick and swesting.

"And before..." Idries skirted around the incident in Djemaa e Fna, yet they both knew what he meant.
"Hassan asked around. Apparently you were plastering an old brothel at the back of Maison Tiskiwine.
For food..."

"For keep," said Prisoner Zero, "theres adifference.”
"Abh."

Prisoner Zero smiled and let Idriesthink he meant sex, though that wasn't it. HEd enjoyed seeing Lellds
girlspass by in their thongs or camiknickers but he was there for anonymity, to be regarded like an old
piece of furniture, comfortable and useful but consgtently invisible. A woman in asouk had been talking
about hiring a plasterer when the man who wasn't Jake had interrupted, offered his services.

"Y ou've done the work before?'

"Of course.”

"Where?' Lellds eyeswere bright, openly suspicious.
He named Riad-al-Razor, near Bab Doukkaa
"Never heard of it."

"It wasawhile ago."

The rate Leillamentioned was so0 low that even Prisoner Zero had raised his eyebrows, only accepting
when he realized she was about to turn back to her conversation.

"Look," Idriessaid. "Y ou need to answer that."
"No," said Prisoner Zero. "'l don't. So stop bothering me.”

Idries began to shrug, looked at the man he was there to watch and smiled, understanding spreading
dowly across histhin face. "Y ou're not meant to answer it," hesaid. "lt'sasigna.”

Prisoner Zero said nothing. He handed his polishing stone to Idries, climbed down from the ladder and
walked dowly to the window, stopping while he was till in shadow.

Ghogts and the memories of things il to happen were waiting for him out there. And yet by next spring
there would also be agarden of small palms and ornamental bushes, afountain fed by water piped from



higher up the valley. Pegs aready marked where the beds were to be dug and foundations had been laid
for aroad to run from the gate to a parking area dong one side of the kasbah.

Prisoner Zero tried to imagine what it would be like to own such ahouse and found he couldn't. It was
years since hed owned more than his memories and the clothesin which he stood. Even theflat in Peris
was owned by afamily trust, histiny alowance for food, € ectricity and gas unchanged since the day it
wasfirst paid.

"l need some cigarettes,”" he said, turning back from the window.
"You don't smoke."

"How would you know?'

Idriessighed. "I'll get some tomorrow,” he promised.

"Now," Prisoner Zero said. 'l meanit. | can't finish thisuntil I've got some." He indicated the area of wall
he'd been polishing with the fist-sized lump of agate. It had adull shinelike poor quality marble.

"What kind?" |dries asked.
"The chegpest you can find. Try thevillage."

Thevillage was six mud-brick houses, the crumbling, white-domed tomb of aloca saint and a

tél éboutique used by every family within afive-kilometre radius to make calls, collect messages, buy
cigarettes and gossip. There was no mosgue as such, so the men held Friday prayersin the whitewashed
tomb.

Tiesof kinship being what they were, seven other villages had connectionsto this one and together the
elght made up aholding which originaly owed obligation to the caid of avaley fifteen kilometres distant.
All of the housesin the eight villagesfollowed the same smple design but their colours varied from village
to village, depending on the mud from which the bricks had been made.

An ancient path passed the walls of Hassan's new kashah, leading down agravel dopeto thevillagein
the dip below. Another path crossed this one near the kasbah's gate and headed uphill towards an
abandoned village on the plateau.

Choosing this spot was Hassan's way of making it look asif his kasbah had been there forever, ameeting
point for paths and part of the valley's history. The pretence would work better when the concrete blocks
making up the gate had been plastered over and the garden had been given a chanceto settlein.

It wasinto thisvaley that one of Marécha Lyautey's brigades had limped in the spring of 1916, tired and
near defeated from fighting the tribes south of the High Atlas. Instead of attacking as expected, the leader
of thetiny village, adescendant of thelocal saint, gave the French shelter and food, ammunition and
replacement horses. When the brigade | eft, their mgjor promised the chief that he would be made caid,
ruler of thewholevalley.

Hassan claimed that his uncle was the bastard of that man's bastard, the grandson of adave and aman
whose name was to become enough to make other villages surrender without a shot being fired.

"Look, if youwont gotothevillage, I'll go mysdif."

"Noway," Idriessaid. "Y ou know what the boss ordered. Y ou're to stay in the house, you're not even to
go near the windows. Anything you need, | get."



"Fine" said Prisoner Zero. "Get me apacket of cigarettes.”

If ever ahouse needed ghostsit was this one. The breeze-block shell of the kitchen was hungry for feasts
yet to be cooked, there were basins upstairs where no one had washed and bedrooms where no man
had sulked and no woman cried herself to deep. No one had died in their beds because there were no
beds. And thus no girl had ever spread her legs to make sheets for aboy she hoped one day to love and
no babies had been born of such blind and necessary optimism.

All this Prisoner Zero knew, just as he knew that ghosts had fled to this valley from Marrakech and that
he might just have saved Idriesslife by sending him to buy cigarettes that no one would ever smoke,

With Idries gone, Prisoner Zero picked up his cell phone and turned it off, tossing the thing into a bucket
of newly mixed plaster whereit dowly but certainly began to sink. Viscogty, density and displacement,
hefiled al three away to consider later. If there was alater.

Finding arag in the kitchen herinsed it under water from a standpipe in the garden and headed for a
half-built stable block. Horses were till considered asign of wedth in the Atlas and Hassan had agtdlion
and four mares on order, pure-bred Arabs every one. The black jeep currently occupying what would
become the end stall was an old diesdl, running round the clock for the second time. Its treads were worn
almost bare and abang had scraped paint off one door.

Sacks of lime plaster still sat in the back, so Prisoner Zero moved these first and then began to wipe
down the vehicle. Once the doors were free of fingerprints, he climbed inside the front seat and began, as
quickly as he could, to remove dl trace of Idries.

He wiped down the steering whedl and gear stick, the rubber pedals and handbrake, smeared hisrag
across alength of plastic dashboard and then wiped down the insides of both doors. Clambering out,
Prisoner Zero reached for the mats and almost ran to a haf-dug flowerbed, shaking both free of gravel
and dirt.

All clean, he sat himsalf back in the driver's seat and changed gears, running rapidly through awhole
sequence. After that he turned the handles which wound down the windows and put the handbrake on
and off half adozen times. As an afterthought, he wiped down the lever that put the jeep into four-whed!
drive and worked that back and forth for afew seconds.

Then he got out of the jegp and promptly leant back in again to shake dandruff from hisfilthy hair onto
the driver's seat. All that remained was to wipe down the sacks of plaster he'd carefully unloaded.

Thiswasn't what Prisoner Zero was meant to do if his mobile rang and it was probably pointless, but he
did it just the same. He was meant to head for the high plateau where a goatherd would meet him near
the top of the path. And he was to take Idries with him.

Idries didn't know this because he hadn't been told. That was the way Caid Hammou worked. The only
people to know were the goatherd, who was meant to meet Prisoner Zero near the abandoned village,
and Prisoner Zero himsdif.

Obligation and the repayment of debts could be avery complex thing in Marrakech.

Therewas a certain strength and logic to Hammou's plan, but aweakness also and it was the weakness
which had aways undercut hisfamily'sideas where Jake Razor, Maikaand Moz d-Turg were
concerned. Caid Hammou and his nephew consistently ignored the obvious, which was that some people



had real trouble doing what they were told.

The bolts on the cedar front doors to the kasbah were aslong as Prisoner Zero'sarm and asthick asthe
wrist of achild. They were brass, aswas traditional, although chrome had become fashionable for riads
inthecty.

Prisoner Zero, very intentionaly, left the main doors unlocked but the soldiers still camein the windows,
smashing half adozen smultaneoudly to tossin stun grenades. Even with torn strips of cottonin hisears
and his hands protecting his head, the shock waves made Prisoner Zero fed sick.

Dropping to a crouch, he found awet rag heldd prepared and dammed it over his mouth and nose,
shutting his eyes againgt the tear gas and keeping his breeth shallow.

"You, down! ...

The words were shouted in English, followed asecond later by abark of Arabic and then French, same
meaning, different voices. As Prisoner Zero was dready crouched in the middle of the hall, he smply
tipped on his side and stretched out on hisfront, therag till held to his mouth.

""Hands behind your head."

Prisoner Zero assumed the position and waited. He could seefeet...Weéll, bootsredly. Mostly black
boots athough one pair was green, made of canvas with thinner laces. That wasthe pair which stopped
directly in front of him, shuffling back and forward. For amoment Prisoner Zero thought those boots
intended to kick himin theface.

"Roll over...No...Keep your handswhere they are.”

Prisoner Zero rolled, and found himself looking up at a handful of US marines, aMoroccan liaison officer
and two men from an dite regiment raised in Fez. They al had guns, even the liaison officer, and dl of the
wesponswere pointed at him. It waslike being...Prisoner Zero wasn't quite sure what. A fish maybe.
Pulled out of the water, finally seeing the owner of the net.

"Y ou going to shoot or not?" Prisoner Zero asked.

"Nothing so easy," the liaison officer said. And asif asigna had been given, one of the others samped on
Prisoner Zero'sleg. A kick to the head followed and Prisoner Zero tumbled into somewhere else.

CHAPTER 7
Zigin Chéng, CTzu 53/Year 7

"What are you looking at?' demanded Zag.

And while he was still wondering why hisjade-framed mirror refused to answer, the young Emperor
remembered. Hed promised to smash the glassif it ever spoke to him again and, as he'd pointed out at
the time, neither of them could afford that much bad luck.

Generd Ch'ao Kai stood in front of the huge glass. Almost asif protecting it from the teenager's latest



tantrum. The Genera was doing his best not to look disgusted.

Zag had just returned from the Ambassadors City, his disguise strewn on the floor behind him. No one
was interested in plotting to overthrow him. They wereinterested in body modification, who'd lived the
longest and which world was the richest, most highly cultured or threw the best parties. Politics seemed
beyond them.

The week before, Zag had trawled through the back aleys of the Servitors City, in the clothes of a
cook, searching the inns and brothels for co-conspirators. Needless to say he found none. Both cities
were in agreement that the Chuang Tzu's existence was beneficid to the well-being of the 2023 worlds.
So certain of thisfact had tonight's group been that most ambassadors at the party had trouble even
understanding his suggestion.

"Morons" Zag said, wiping off the last of his make-up with the back of his hand. Outsde hiswindow
rain lashed the glass and hammered pregnant drops againgt the roof, dways a sign that the Emperor was
upset. And who wouldn't be? Zag had returned to his pavilion expecting to be alowed to sulk in peace
and found five naked concubines arranged artigtically on his bed.

"Kill them," the boy ordered.

Zag was back in full costume, complete with court sword, his hair pulled into ablack ponytail and tied
with ribbon. Only servitors wore queues and athough visiting ambassadors were told that the tradition
carried over from ancient days when servitors still believed they might be lifted to heaven by their plaits,
thiswas untrue. The Manchu had demanded it. A sign of servitude. Onethat had dlowed the heads of
the Han to be dragged easily across the chopping block.

He knew thisfor afact. The Library had told him.
"Kill them," Zag sad. "l meanit."

General Ch'ap Kai tugged at the edge of his padded silk jacket, dways an indication that he was
worried. Any minute now the leopard'stail hanging from his ceremonia lance would start swinging in
rigidly controlled fury. Hed served five emperors and Zag was hisleast favourite. The old man would
never be unprofessiona enough to say so but he didn't need to.

The old man's anger was very convincing.
"Do you want me to do it myself?" Zag's voice was hard, hisface set.

Thiswasn't meant to be adifficult question, although it became obvious from the turmoail in Generd Ch'ao
Kai's eyesthat the old soldier was having trouble working out the right answer.

The Emperor sghed.

That is, Zag sighed. And because Zag was in his seventh year asthe Chuang Tzu, when he sighed it was
as Emperor and so he was watched by forty-three billion people, afigure that rose rapidly as others
realized what might be about to happen.

At the age of eleven Zaq had hisfavourite poet thrown to the wolves. The man was skilled in verse,
diplomatic to afault and Zag liked him. So, as tantrums went, thiswas not particularly sensble or even
origina. A drunken Muscovite had done something very smilar more than five thousand years earlier and
gonedownin higtory aslvanthe Terrible,

Infact Zag got the ideafrom the Library while skimming the life of Ivan Vaslyevich, aman who seemed



to have inherited his throne from hisfather. This seemed so unlikely to Zaq that he considered asking the
Librarian if the Library might have got it wrong.

Only the Library never got anything wrong. It was the Sngle most accurate data source in the 2023
worlds and its content had the status of law. The fact its core was alien was regarded as agood thing;
because whichever race created the Library had long since died and this meant the Librarian had no
in-built dlegiance to any oneworld, speciesor cultural grouping.

Infact, its only alegiance seemed to be to the concept of Chuang Tzu and thisit displayed, first and
foremogt, in aruthless and sometimes crud adherence to the truth.

The Library's core could talk to Zaq directly, but the Librarian could manifest in any of the mirrors
scattered through the Forbidden City, although there were many of these.

The poet hadn't been redl, of course. No onein the Purple City was real except for Zag, but he hadn't
realized that back then. In fact, held only redlized it within the last three days, but the more Zag thought
about it the more he knew it was true. The others were just puppets and backdrop, so much bleeding
mest controlled by the multiple mind that was hisLibrary.

The Library wasto the Librarian what Zagq was to the Chuang Tzu, the redlity behind the fagade. Zag
wasn't sureif he was meant to have discovered this.

Y ear of the dragon.
Season of the bitch.

Thismorning, histhirteenth birthday, he'd been pulled from deep by a polite cough and come awake to
find himsdf surrounded by five naked concubines. A present from the Librarian presumably.

Hed sent them away and returned from the Ambassadors City to find al fivein his bed again, arranged
picturesquely under the sheet. Sloe eyes and high cheekbones above hamster cheeks, hair asdark as
obsidian and perfect breasts tipped with nipples as rare as unflawed amber. Having taken along ook,
Zag shut his own eyes and redlized he couldn't remember a single thing about any of them.

All he got were generdlities.

A sense of beauty.

An awarenessthat if he sent them away another five would probably take their place, as anonymous and
as beautiful asthose hed just dismissed.

"Get me aknife" Zag told the nearest concubine.
Huge eyes watched him, impossibly large. When she spoke it sounded like water running over rock.
"What kind of knife, Excdlency?'

Any kind was what Zaq was about to say but he changed this, fighting for specifics. "A sharp one," he
sad, athough that should have been obvious.

Without another word, the naked girl did from under the sheet and padded across the marble floor
towards adoorway. Zag tried to remember how the room next door might look and decided it was gold,
green and red. Most rooms in his palace were gold, green and red.

"Excdlency..." Sheheld out along stedl blade fixed into amutton-fat hilt, topped with aruby thesze of a



quail's egg. For amoment Zaq debated telling the concubine to stab herself. His only problem being that
shed doit. In the seven years that had passed since Zag | eft Razor's Edge to become Chuang Tzu he
had run out of unreasonable demands.

Everything he asked for was given.
"Turn around,” hetold the girl.

The General was watching now, his glance dipping between the blade, Zag's face and the perfect back
and buttocks of the girl, asif aline existed between the three, invisible but unbreakable.

"And again."

The order was intentionally ambiguous, obscure. But the concubine ingtantly did what Zag wanted her to
do, confirming for Zag that the girl now turning to face him, her bare mons as flawless as her buttocks,
was nothing more than afleshly manifestation of the Library.

A mere agpect of the palace. Soft furnishings.

He could sink his knife benesth one of those upturned breasts or dice open her perfect somach. There
were other things, perverted things, that he could do but even Zaq tired at the bandity of those thoughts.

"You may go," hetold the concubine.

Her eyesflicked towards the main door and Zag nodded, wrapping his cloak tight around him until he
was dmost completdy buried initsyelow folds.

"Youtoo," hetold the others, meaning al of them. And they went, one by one, their eyesdark and
devoid. "And don't let them come back,” Zag shouted after the General. Y ou hear me?"

He stamped across his room and stopped pointedly in front of the mirror. "Tell the Library I'm going to
kill the next person to comein here." To make his point, Zaq hurled the long blade at the glass but it just
bounced off thewall, its handle shattering when it hit the floor.

For five days Zaq refused to leave hisroom and his audience drifted away until dl that remained wasa
amall core of the old and aimless, those who lived dmost exclusively through the butterfly life of one much
younger and infinitely morefragile.

That wasthe dedl. The Chuang Tzu lived in absolute, terrifying splendour for the length of hisnaturd life
and, in so doing, absolved all others of the need to consume quite so conspicuoudly.

As each emperor burnt out within one natura life (this aso being part of the dedl), those watching got to
see eight, maybe more Chuang Tzu be selected, raised to the Dragon Throne, grow old and die. Of
course, this applied only to those who retained their corpored bodies. The cold eternals had mostly seen
maybe twenty or more emperors come and go before even this became too little to make remaining dive
atractive.

CHAPTER 8
Marrakech, July 1971



On the afternoon that two hundred and fifty army cadets, many from the Ahermoumou Military School,
invaded the Moroccan King's forty-second birthday party at Sikharat and machine-gunned ninety-two of
his guests, accidentally killing the leader of their attempted coup in the process, afight between two
Marrakchi boys broke out behind La Koutoubia. An event so utterly insignificant that it took aforeign
hippieto noticeit.

Four generals, five colonels and amgor faced afiring squad following the two-and-a-haf-hour battle at
the summer palace, which was only ended by the coolness of the King, who stared down the rebels
following the death of their leader.

And as rumours of the confrontation brought the souksto a sullen hat and men spilled onto the dleysin
groupsto discuss whet little they knew, Hassan, Idries and two boys whose names Mdikadid not know
chased Moz through the gathering crowds, cornering him in the gardens behind the mosque.

Thefirst punch split Moz's eye, the next snapped back his head and spun the garden around him. Blue
sky, pam trees and adistant Sixteenth-century tower al watching him fall.

Getting up again fast was hard with only one arm, but Moz managed it. And as he wiped blood and dust
from hisface, he stared round at the boys who'd pursued him from Place Abdel Moumen around the
back of the mosque and into the dusty gardens.

"Fatah.”
"Teazak."
"Ibn haram."
"Hmar "

The insults were meaningless. Merely words overhead--"foreskin,” "arse," "bastard” and
"Jackass'--ready warmed from their use by others.

"Hit him again." Idries was cheering for Hassan. Salf-preservation made this the rat-faced boy's default
position in everything. The other two Moz didn't recognize, athough he noticed they watched Hassan
impatiently, waiting for the killer blow. Their conversation was with each other, low-voiced and private.

Only Sidi ould Kasm's daughter watched in slence.

It was ayear since she and Moz had last said aword to each other. Mdikatill hadn't forgiven Moz for
the fact his ma had refused to marry her father. He watched her though, each night, through a crack
between thetilesin hisbedroom floor. A thin girl with reddish hair and bony shoulders, whose buttocks
were as scrawny as any goat.

"Areyou il fighting," said Hassan, his question contemptuous, "or have you given up?'

Moz punched him. The only blow held actually managed to land. "'l don't give up,” he said, watching
Hassan put ahand to hisface and find blood. "Don't you know anything?”

It wasthefirgt of three fights with Hassan, and the one Moz would remember best; not for its violence or
fierceness or even how it ended, but for the noise that suddenly crashed through the open window of a
ydlow van parked, quiteillegdly, in the shade of a haf-dead padm behind them.

The boy whose nose had just been broken was dl of eleven and awhole head higher than most of his
age, making him taler by far than Moz. "1'm bleeding," said Hassan, examining hisfingers.



"Here." Idries pulled ablade from his pocket. "Y ou can borrow this." He held his knife out to Hassan,
who shook his head angrily while the nameless boys said nothing, just watched and waited to see how
Hassan would react.

And then, suddenly, asif sound-tracking their expectation came music like no other.
Won't get fooled again...
Crashing chords and alanguage Moz barely understood.

Only hewould get fooled, Moz knew that. He wasn't clever enough to stay out of trouble or fast enough
to run away. Hassan and he fought over a packet of tissues. A small, localy produced packet wrapped
in cellophane and printed with the name "Kleenex," because thiswas amake the nasrani knew and
recognizing what they bought made foreigners happy.

Moz had been warned not to work Idries's patch, but everyone who knew him agreed he was bad at
listening. And Moz was better at slling the tissues than I dries, because the nasrani only had to look at
his empty deeve and torn jellabato begin reaching for coins. Idrieswas good at looking sad but he
couldn't compete with that, no one could.

Hassan didn't actually sell the tissues. He just took acut from Idries and half a dozen other boys, none of
them asgood at sdling asMoz.

Moz grinned.

"I'm going to kill you," Hassan said quietly.
"Heis," agreed Idries.

The older boysremained silent.

And behind them &l stood Mdika, asif not quite part of what was happening. She was till scuffing one
bare hed in the red dirt when Moz struck again. Only thistime he kicked, as hard as he could, one toe
breaking as he caught Hassan between the legs.

No one said anything as Hassan crashed to the ground, writhing around in the dust like a beetle with half
itslegstorn off, athough even the two older boys looked vaguely impressed.

Stepping forward, Moz stamped on Hassan's scomach.
"Hey," someone shouted from the door of the van. " That's enough.”

The nasrani wore athick coat, thiswasthe first thing Moz noticed about him. In the height of summer,
the man wore a goatskin waistcoat with afur collar. Moz was so surprised by thisthat he forgot to keep
an eye on Hassan. Not that it mattered, the older boy was il in the dirt, clutching his somach. The
second thing Moz noticed only when the foreigner came over to help Hassan to hisfeet. The coat stank.

"Y ou have aname?' he asked Moz.
Moz nodded. Of course he did. "I'm Hamid."

"Cdl meDave" saidtheman. "And | meanit. You redly shouldnt fight." The nasrani spoke English,
which meant Moz was the only one able to understand him. The boy waited politely to find out why he
shouldn't fight but the blond foreigner merely smiled. Asif the sSatement was enough.



"What did he say?" Hassan demanded.
"That we shouldnt fight."

The older boy snorted, his battle with Moz temporarily forgotten. Dusting himsdlf down, Hassan cameto
stand beside the smdler boy. "Ask himif hesgot cigarettes,” Hassan ordered.

The man pulled acrumpled packet of Gauloise from his jeans and handed them over asif thiswas
nothing. Moz passed them to Hassan, who flipped one from the packet and stuck it in his mouth.

"Usethis." Dave Gilestossed Hassan aplagtic lighter and waved it away when the boy tried to giveit
back. "Keep thething," he said. "I've got another.”

"What did he say?"
"Itsyours,” said Moz.

Hassan looked doubtful, shrugged and he pocketed the lighter anyway. When the man said nothing,
Hassan grinned.

"Seeif hesgot Coca-Cola."

Before Moz had even begun to trandate, the foreigner was walking towards hisyelow van. And when he
returned it was with awhite box, a blue and red logo printed on either end.

"Peps,” said theforeigner. Handing them each a can, he dropped to his hedls and settled into an
uncomfortable-looking squat. "L earnt to St like thisfrom an Ethiopian,” hetold Moz. "Met him at the
Garedu Nord in Paris. Cool guy, begging. He gave methis..." Theforeigner pulled asilver crossfrom
indde hisshirt. "It'svery old."

"And what did you give him?" This seemed important because foreigners didn't aways understand the
rules governing the giving and receiving of gifts. "Y ou did give him something?'

"My waich." Dave shrugged. "I never redly liked it anyway."
"Wasit agood watch?'

"Well." The man thought about it. "Depends what you mean by good. Not gold, if that's what you mean.
And it ran on abattery.” Until then Moz hadn't known watches could be made from gold or run on
batteries. He looked at the foreigner, wondering whether to ask his next question.

"Wher€'s Paris?'

"In France."

"Wheré€'s France?'

"Y ou dways ask SO many questions?”

"Always." Moz nodded. Of course he did. How else was he going to learn anything?

"North of here," said Dave, then smiled as Moz opened hismouth. "Wait," hesaid, "I'll get my atlas.
And he was gone before Moz had time to ask him what an atlas might be.

Thefirst thing Moz noticed about the picture of France were parald lines dong the bottom of the page,



each with a0 at one end and 1000 written at the other, as anumber, not as aword. One of them said
"kilometres," while the other waslabdled...

"Miles," hesaid.
Dave nodded.

There was no secret, mileswere just fatter kilometres. Looking closer, Moz redlized you got eight of one
for five of the other.

In the end, Hassan grew bored with waiting and that meant Idries got bored too. So when Hassan
crushed his can and stood, nodding abruptly to the foreigner, Idries did the same.

"Timetogo," Idriessad.
"I'm staying here)" said Moz.

"Coward." It wasthefirg thing either of the silent boys had said in the entire time since Moz was
cornered. And as soon as the boy opened his mouth Moz knew why he'd been silent. What with every
radio claming anew war with Algeriawasinevitable.

"YoureAlgerian."

"Whet of it?'

"Nothing." Moz grinned at Hassan. "Can't you get any red friends?’

"I'll seeyou later," Hassan said. He jerked his head at Mdika. "Come on, timeto move."

The nine-year-old looked from Moz to Hassan and then at the white box which contained the Pepsis.
"I'm going to stay," Mdikasaid.

CHAPTER 9
Washington, Wednesday 27 June

"You can help...?" Gene Newman sounded almost doubtful.

"Well see," said Professor Mayer. "Let me send you Katie Petrov. You'l like her. Very bright. Try not
to like her too much..." Only Professor Mayer would have dreamed of talking to the President like that
or got away with it.

"Okay, Petra," hesaid, "well talk later.” President Newman put down his phone and flicked shut alittle
black book in which he kept those numbers which mattered to him. Old friends, ex-lovers, big-budget
contributors and hisold tutor. Thefact he didled these callsfor himsdlf drove his staff wild. That was one
of the reasonsthe President il did it.

Gene Newman had a problem. On the desk in front of him was atelegram from the new Pope
congratulating him on the capture of Prisoner Zero and asking him to rescind the death pendty.

A telegram was how the Washington Post described it, dthough the redlity was more alist of tightly



argued points, some of which were pretty good, particularly the one about not making martyrs.
Unfortunately that suggestion didn't seem to be playing well in Kansas.

The letter from the Prime Minister in London was more mealy mouthed but it said more or lessthe same.
Now might be agood time to commute the sentence and avoid making more martyrs than were strictly

necessary.
Gene Newman loved that lat hit.

"Mr. Presdent..."

Gene Newman's secretary walked the long way round to his desk. Even after two yearsin the job, | sabel
Gorg didn't fed right stamping across the eagle that glowered at her from the centre of the Oval Office

carpet.

"Issbd.”

The President wore black out of respect for those killed in the Marrakech helicopter crash, for the
guardsin the prison van and for the CIA agent and Moroccan officer whose bodies had been foundina

burned-out car. Black tie, black suit, Stars and Stripes ename badge. He'd been wearing the same ouitfit
for dmaost amonth.

"What have you got there?'

The President asked his question without ooking up from the Pope'stelegram. All the sametherewasa
warmth to hisvoice that had the ederly Higpanic woman smiling. She knew it was mostly a side effect of

memoary.

For much of hisearly twenties, Gene Newman had earned hisliving with that voice, till didif hewas
honest. It had taken him from alocal soap to prime-time comedy dramainside of three years. And from
there to Hollywood. And histrick, the best he'd ever pulled, wasto retire at the height of hisearning

power.

Thered been no big announcement, just an easing off of public appearances and areluctance on the part
of hisagent to forward scripts that weren't origina, thoughtful and immaculatdy written. Since these were
rarer than hens teeth, Gene Newman made two filmsin his eighteen monthsin Hollywood, won an Oscar
for each and then bowed out so gracefully it took even his agent ayear to work out what had happened.

"Edvard asked meto give you this."

She put athin report on the sde of his desk rather than overbadance the unstable pile that was hisin-tray.
"It'sbreeding,” said President Newman. He meant hisin-tray.

"Let mehandeit.”

The President looked &t her.

They'd been through this before, many times. The President's habit of trying to read everything that
passed through his office was regarded with tolerant amusement by hisfriendsand asasign of paranoia
by hisenemies.

Hiswife, who seemed to spend more time than ever in the gym and rarely bothered to read anything
before signing it, viewed it asasimple quirk and expected no lessfrom aman who'd thrownina



high-level Hollywood career for three years at Harvard, two years at Oxford and ten months at the
Sorbonne.

A number of stories circulated about his reasonsfor leaving Paris, and in his defence the President would
only point out that he was till married and to hisfirst wife, which made him something of agatistica

rarity.

"Isthat whet | think it is?"

Isabel Gorst nodded.

"Youreadit?'

Shelooked as shocked as shefelt. "It's from the National Security Advisor,” she said.
"Just asking."

"Isthere anything else, Mr. President?’

"Coffee," he said. He had kitchen staff to do all this, of course, but the First Lady had taken them aside
and corrupted the lot of them. Told them about hiskidneys, caffeine and the night swesats. So now he got
decaf with soyamilk aswell as only one whiskey aday, more ice than acohol. Payback for being alittle
too free with the chemicasin histeens. A fact hed happily deny on anything except aBible.

"Y ou know, I'm not sure--" Isabel Gorst began.

"Look," said the President, opening thefile. "I'm about to find out exactly why some guy tried to shoot
me. | deserve a coffee.”

When the cup findly arrived, weak, more milk than coffee, Gene Newman was still coming to termswith
the fact that, far from now having hisreason, it seemed the entire might of hisintelligence serviceswas
unable to give him aname, nationdlity or political persuasion for the man.

"Paula” Gene Newman caught his CIA chief as she was putting on her coat for ameeting on the Hill.
"I've got aquestion.”

Paula Zarte waited.
"Why do you think he wanted to kill me?'
Sheamiled. "Y ou're the President of the United States of America”

"Yep." President Newman nodded. "I've been told that already, but it's not an acceptable answer. Think
about it," hesaid. "Is that an answer?'

"It worksfor me."
"Let them wait," Gene Newman said. "Let'stake asroll.”

They waked in silence, Paulawaiting as the President watched a bird swoop beyond the Rose Garden.
"You know," hesad, "Ally wantsacat."

"You don't like cats?"



"Of coursel like cats. And dogs and horses, cows, pigs, mules, turkeys, especidly turkeys. | evenlove
coyotes. But that's not--" He stopped suddenly. "Did | leave anything out?"

"Eagles, gr.”

Gene Newman frowned. "L et's take that one for granted.”
"So what's the problem with cats?'

"They kill birds and they make me sneeze.”

"Didn't you haveacat in--?"

"Two," hesaid. "Siamese and Persian. Onelilac, one blue. They belonged to the director's mistress. Y ou
remember the nosejob | was meant to have got donejust after | left the show?”

"It's been mentioned.”
"That waan't rhinoplasty, that was how | looked when not suffering from histamine overload.”
"Isthere something | can help you with, Mr. President?’

"Yeah," Gene Newman said, "thereis. There's something Ed's not telling me. | need you to find out
what."

"l lovethisgarden..."

The CIA operative standing next to atwisted crab apple nodded. He was wearing tortoiseshell glasses
and avery good Itaian suit, probably better than the one the President was wearing.

"Thiswhole area used to be greenhouses. Did you know that?"
"No, gr."

"Wadll, it was, before that monstrosity was built." Nodding over his shoulder Gene Newman indicated the
lighted windows of the West Wing and the still-open door to his office. Y ou know what was here before
the greenhouses?'

"No, gr."

" Jefferson's pavilion. The one he had built in 1807."

The agent looked blank and Gene Newman sighed.

"Y ou knew Charlie Bilberg?'

He saw the answer in the set of the young man's jaw.
"And you were present when Prisoner Zero was retaken?’

"Yes, Mr. President.” Michael Wharton looked like he wanted to add something but restrained himself
and Gene Newman smiled.

"I know," he said. "Y ou led the capture, only you didn't because it's not our country, so officidly you



were there as an observer. An unnecessary question but we have to begin this conversation somewhere.
And that wasit."

They were standing, shoulder to shoulder, at the far end of the Rose Garden, the President's bodyguards
safely out of earshot but firmly within view. Gene Newman wasresisting the First Lady's latest
suggestion, that he have himsalf microchipped for safety like some dog, and hed threatened her with a
date vidt to Belgiumif she dared mention theideaagain.

A bit of Gene Newman wanted to ask the boy if he knew who first planted roses on this site and when,
but it was unfair to expect everyone to have his own interest in the minutiae of White House history.

"What was Charlie Bilberg like?!
Agent Wharton hesitated.

"Thisisoff therecord,” said the President. "In about two hours time, when you've got sufficiently bored
being shown Mrs. Roosevet's chinacollection by anintern, my Chief of Staff isgoing to bring you into
the Ova Office for thirty seconds so we can go through the rigmarole of being introduced dl over again.
That will bethefirst time you've ever met me. Isthisclear?’

A quick nod.

"Good. Now tell me about Agent Bilberg.”

"He would have made agood officer, Sr."

"But hewasn't there yet. Isthat what you're saying?"
"He spoke Chleuh.”

What?"

"It'sthe language of the Atlas, one of them anyway. Charles spoke alittle and intelligence suggested
Prisoner Zero spokeit aso.”

"That waswhy he was sent?'

Agent Wharton amost shrugged, but caught himslf in time. " Someone obvioudy thought--"
"Someone?' the President said sharply.

"Yes, gr."

"But you don't know who?"

"No, gr. | don't have that information.”

Gene Newman sighed. "No problem. I'm sorry about Agent Bilberg.”

"Yes dr,s0aml.”

"Hewasafriend?'

"No, sr. We barely knew each other."



"Well," said the President, "that was quick.” Hewas il in the garden, thinking about Thomas Jefferson,
dave owner, drafter of the Declaration of Independence and third President of the new United States of
America

Paula Zarte's smile was afull-on dazzler and revedled perfect teeth, the kind Gene Newman would never
have dared possess, even when he was in Hollywood and certainly not now hewasin hislateforties.
Mind you, for al he knew they were red and untouched by cosmetic dentistry.

"l did what you asked."
"Good," sad the President. "That'swhat you're therefor."
Paula paused, decided his comment wasn't serious and risked a mocking smile,

She was beautiful, Gene Newman thought in passing. A full ten years younger than he was with the body
of someone ten years younger than that. Full breasts, dight hips and curved buttocks, her skin dmost
purplein acertain light. The President couldn't help himsdlf, he noticed the same things, every time,

Paula Zarte dso had the nerves of apoker player and abrain so sharp he paid it the respect due to an
edged weapon.

"Maybe we should goin," Gene Newman said, "before someone sartstaking.”

They sat inthe West Sitting Hall, by awindow which overlooked the Executive Office Building. Y elow
curtains behind them, eaude-nil walls and adado rail and door arch painted in ahue hiswifesItalian
designer indsted on caling duck-turd blue.

"Is something wrong, Mr. Presdent?

"A madman wantsto kill me and no one can tell me why. The Republicans are targeting my son's
girlfriend. My wifethinks| need atrip to the vet. The coffee around here tastes like dishwater. Apart
fromthat everything'sfine."

The black woman amiled. "I'vejust called in the transcript of the very first interrogation, the one when he
wasfirst asked why hetried to shoot you."

"And what was his answer?'
"Hewasligeningtotheran.”
IIWI,Hl?I

"That'swhat he said. ‘| wasligtening to the rain. We're not talking conspiracy here. We'retaking lone
nutter. That'swhat Ed doesn't want widely known. Conspiracy plays better.”

"And what was he hearing?'

Paulalooked puzzled, then understood. "Who knows?' she said. "Something else, | guess..."
"Y ou want to be my excuse to order some coffee?"

"Sure," Paulasaid, amending it to, "that would be good.”

The First Lady might not approve of caffeine but she approved of Paula Zarte even less. It was down to
the businessin Paris. And then the President appointed Ms. Zarte head of the CIA over the head of the



obvious candidate. The First Lady wasn't the only one still deciding what she thought about that.

"What do you want?' Gene Newman asked, when the coffee had been brought and awoman from the
kitchens had shut the door behind her.

"I'm sorry?'

"l want to win the next dection,” said the President. "That's short term. Long term | want to walk out of
herein six yearswith some of my sdlf-respect till intact. | want Ally and Bill to be happy. And if | make
asmdl differenceto the safety of this country and the world, then that would be good too.

"Andif | can't go downin history asagood president then I'll settle for not being abad one. That's what
| want. Prisoner Zero risked hislifeto try to kill me, so that'swhat he wants. Now what do you want?'

"My version of what you just said,” said Paula. "To be good at this job. Not to screw up. Not to end up
with another divorce.

"Y ou guys having trouble?"

"Only theusud," Paulasaid. "The hours are too long. We're never in the same city at the sametime. We
buy breast fillet, sugar snap peas and portobello mushrooms every Friday evening and throw thelot out a
week later because even when we're both there neither of us hasthetime, energy or dightest inclination
to cook."

"I'msorry."
Paulasghed. "It getsworse,” she said. "Mikés having an affair.”

The President had known Paulafor most of her life. That was one of the reasons why Paris had been
such amistake. He could still remember the girl sheld been, aspindly army brat off to college. Their
families had known each other and the President knew she wasn't telling him. Shewastelling the late
twenty-something he'd been back then. Old enough to give advice and not so old it was like talking to
someone's father.

"God," Gene Newman said, "when did Miketell you?"
"Hedidn't."

He looked &t her then.

"Ohyeah," Paulasaid. "I'm completely compromised.”
"Y ou had him followed?"

Her nod was dight.

"By someone you trust?'

"Every day, withmy life"

Which had to mean the Puerto Rican woman waiting anxioudly in an areanow reserved for the
bodyguards of those visiting. One of the First Lady's more interesting idess.

"Fdida?'



Another nod.

"WhoisMike seeing?'

"One of your gteff.”

The President sighed. Y ou probably shouldn't have told methat," he said. "'Y ou want meto end it?
"Hon?'

"I'm sure we need an ambassador somewhere. Y ou stay, Mike goes...Y ou can write the closing script
nearer the time. Meanwhile think about redeploying Felicia Make it apromotion.”

"And me?'
"You?' The President tipped his head to one side.
"Should | expect to be redeployed?!

"No." Gene Newman shook his head. "Thisjob belongsto you for aslong as you want it." He was
working on the basis that Paula knew sheld got the job in spite of what happened in Paris and not
because of it...

"Paulawas here." The First Lady's comment was not aquestion.

"You'reright," said the President. "So shewas."

"And that's why you're sitting in the dark?"

"It'sthe overload of caffeine.”

TheFirst Lady looked around at the Sitting room. "Did Paula have anything interesting to say?*
"The man who tried to shoot me had been listening to therain.”

"l can think of better reasons.”

"Yes. I'm sureyou can.”

"|s Paula@bout to become one of them?”

"No," said Gene Newman, and there was afirmness to his voice which hiswife hadn't heard in months.
Being shot at seemed to agree with him.

CHAPTER 10
Zigin Chéng, CTzu 53/Year 11

It was one of the more elegant ironies of immortaity that memory could be captured within the lattice of a
diamond and that this lattice could be produced by burning and compressing the body from which that



memory was taken.

Zag wore dl of the emperors who'd gone before him on his cloak and their memories were hismemories,
their ennui and hatreds were hisaso, aswere their passions, loves and foibles. It made for a complicated
sense of sdf and some days he would forget who hewas and think of himsdlf as just another memory.

An actor in an old-style Beijing operawith acast of one and an audience of billions.

Other days were different, sometimes very different. On the morning of hisfifteenth birthday Zag decided
he was done, that the audience didn't redly exist and never had, he was donein a pavilion with an
uncertain and ever-changing number of rooms, surrounded by smooth-faced eunuchs, dmond-eyed
concubines, ponytailed warrior guards...

All beautiful intheir way, al degant, dl fake. Asfake asthe ambassadorsin their city beyond the purple
wdls.

Hewasdone,

Zaq found it next to impossible to believe that no other emperor had redlized this, so he skimmed their
diamonds faster than was safe and ended up on hiskneesin a corridor, watched by a Manchu guard,
vomiting soft-shelled crab onto pink marble. He had been right, though; none of them had redlized.

"If itisatruth.”

Thevoicein hishead came on his seventeenth birthday, in the evening when hunger was no longer quite
S0 amusing and Zag was beginning to wonder if he should have sent dl his guards away. Retaining one of
them might have made sense, except then he wouldn't have been aone and being one waswhat this
was about.

"Well," Zaq demanded. "Isit true?’

Even asachild hed spoken rarely to the Librarian, preferring to trust in himsdlf. Nothing in the years
which had passed had changed hismind.

"That depends.”
Surprise me, thought Zag.
"Remember that concubine?”

Of course he did. Thelong blade till lay on thetiles, covered with dust and surrounded by bits of its
broken handle. Hisroom had remained his done since that morning, untidied and inviolate, four years
worth of dirt crusting the floor and griming carved panels until the dragon frieze around the wall looked as
if it had been painted with velvet.

"Thegirl died."

"Shewasnt diveinthefirs place" Zag said.

"Starvation," said the Librarian. " She starved hersdf to desth in the Restful Gardens.”
"Inthewhat?'

A map of the Purple City cameinto hismind and then Zaq redlized it wasnt amap a dl, it was an aerid
view, showing the three state pavilions, dung out dlong anorth-south axis, with his own quarters, three



identical but smaller pavilionsto the north of these.

And to the north again, carved out of asprawl of lesser pavilions, gates and temples was awalled garden
held forgotten was even there. On the grass, next to amulberry bush, lay agirl, her eyes closed and hair
freed from the pinswhich had held it in place.

"You know," said Zaqg, as he bent to retrieve the dusty blade. "I could have saved you the trouble.”
Checking itsweight, Zaq brought the blade up, waited on the moment and tossed it lightly at the wall,
hitting aslk hanging of some mountain pool, the kind with a path skirting the water's edge and asmall
wooden bridge on which stood two children.

The only thing remotely unusua about the hanging was that rain deeted from the top | eft corner, endless
ditchesof drizzle.

"Was that necessary?'

"You canmendit,” Zag sad. "Hdll, just make another..."

The Librarian shook its head. There was no other way Zaq could describe the fedling.
"Why not?'

"Because everything inthisroomisorigina.”

"Indluding me?'

TheLibrarian sghed.

That evening rain lashed the Ambassadors City, flooding athousand pavilions and forcing fifty to be
abandoned completdly. It fel at adant, roughly left to right, and whole districts which had never been
anything but temperate found themselves cowering under date-grey skies and wondering if the deet
would ever end.

Such wesather wasrare. In fact, even the cold immortals who made a point of knowing everything had to
admit that a storm such as thiswas unknown. It was understood, because this was taught as afact of
verifiable truth on dl 2023 worlds, that life around Star Onerelied for its very existence on the presence
of the Chuang Tzu.

No emperor/no climate, the equation wasthat smple.

Few dive could still remember the arriva of the first colony ships. Immortaity had been perfected, at
least inits non-biological forms, but insufficient attention had been paid to the boredom of eternity and the
corrosive nature of the ratchet effect which demanded ever sharper, stronger and more intense sensations
to maintain something like the same leve of satisfaction.

Living forever turned out to be much like long-term sex, psychologicdly tricky; which was why what
killed the original colonists was not hardship but boredom. This became the second crisisto hit the
worlds.

The first happened no more than a decade after the colonists landed, when the original Chuang Tzu died.
No one was watching the Emperor then because these were till early daysin thelife of the 2023 worlds.
Hedied in the night, peacefully and in his deep, having told the Librarian that thiswas what he wanted to
happen because he was now very old and very tired.



On fifty-seven worlds, which was the number then inhabited, colonists woke with headaches that got
worse as the day went on. By the following week, half the children had nosebleeds or ruptured ears.
Whiletens of thousands panicked, an elderly Indian scientist ran an analysis on the atmosphere, using a
semiAl that had been out of date when her grandmother had loaded it onto the ship which brought her
family from Cdcutta. The answer was surprisingly obvious.

The oxygen-nitrogen mix which the colonists had assumed was natura to al 2023 worlds was thinning,
creeting €legant day-glow where ultraviol et interacted with oxygen in the upper aamosphere asit leached

away into space.
The worldswere dying.

It took a Tibetan monk to solve the problem and that he bothered at dl required compromiseswith his
conscience. Higtoricdlly, at least, the Chuang Tzu represented everything the man hated about Han
imperidism and cultural arrogance. All the same, the monk took asmall child whose mother had recently
died and presented it to the palace, walking right into the Celestid Chamber to leave the child on the
throne, like ascreaming sack of rubbish.

The palace was empty, the guards gone. The monk was careful not to enquire where...He wasn't afraid
of dying, of course. Hed died a hundred times before and could remember most of hislives, at least
those of hislivesthat had happened since he came close to the gates of enlightenment.

Depositing the child, the man explained in smpletermsthe laws of reincarnation, paying particular
attention to the rules governing the gppointment of new lamas. He didn't actually tdll the silent air around
him that emperors came under Smilar rules or that the ancient Chosen of Heaven had shared such
selection procedures with the throne of the Dala or Panchen Lama, but he might have suggested it.

And he was careful to present reincarnation as redl, inasmuch as anything could be red in aquantum
universe where facts were both true, false and linked smultaneoudly.

So now emperors came and went, living out their short reignsin the gaze of those who lived far longer.
Maybe this transence was the inspiration for the butterfly cloak or maybe the butterflies had been taken
from the mind of the very first emperor, anewly promoted commissar maor who'd been nicknamed
Chuang Tzu by his grandmother and not as a compliment.

It was hard to know and probably irrelevant, but at some time during the centuries which followed the
dreamer's degth it became atradition for each new incarnation to be visited by a butterfly at night.

CHAPTER 11
Marrakech, July 1971

Something of the desolation and misery of the esclave clung to the walls of Criée Berbere and unnerved
those who came in search of bargains from the rug merchants who had taken the dave auctioneer's place.

The buying and selling of people had lasted well into the twentieth century and at onetime the going rate
in Marrakech was two davesfor acamd, ten for ahorse and forty for acivet cat. Those days were gone
but there were children in the souks whose grandparents and sometimes even parents had been owned
by someone else.



The passage behind Criée Berbere was narrow, high-walled and thick with smoke from a makeshift grill.
The height of itswallstrapped the grill's thick haze and forced al who used the passage to passthrough a
cloud of thyme, onion and burning charcod.

And asthe coas over which the skewers of lamb cooked were il alittle too hot, the boy behind the
grill offered that afternoon's customers cheap paper tissues as protection for their fingers.

Hewas doing his best not to look at the Englishman.

David Giles sat in alocked doorway, near where the dley turned a corner. His Afghan coat was missing,
the Tuarag cross was gone from around his neck and someone had pulled one jeans pocket inside out.
He smét alot worse than when Moz last saw him but held been dive then, that was the difference.

The previous afternoon, Call-me-Dave had been wandering fairly amlesdy from stdl to stal in Djemaad
Fna, asking peopleif they knew somewhere inexpensive he could deep. Since the second of the day's
cdlsto prayer had bardly finished echoing from the squar€'s three minarets this seemed odd to Moz, but
the man was a hippie and foreigners were odd by nature.

"What's wrong with your bus?'

It took Dave Giles a second or so to work out that the boy meant his VW Caravette. "The police towed
my busaway," he said. "I've got to pay afine."

"For using the mosque garden?”

Dave Giles shrugged. "They didn't say," he said. "But | need somewhereto stay while my family send

Malikasfather had offered the man aspace on their roof for ten dirham aday, which was nothing for a
foreigner, but David Gilesturned it down. He waslooking for a place with atelevison. When ould Kasm
asked Moz what waswrong with Derb Y assin, he told the old soldier that the foreigner wanted hot
water.

It seemed easier.

A dozen hedls must have brushed past the nasrani as people dipped between the leather and carpet
souks and stepped over his outstretched feet while pretending not to notice he was there.

Glancing round, Moz dropped to a crouch beside the foreigner and did his good hand quickly insde the
man's shirt. He was definitely dead and hiswallet on astring was gone. Anirregular circle of white
around one finger reveded hed also lost his puzzlering.

In Cal-me-Dave's back pocket, however, Moz found a comic--Galactic Warrior --which he pocketed
before turning to the boy with the grill, who was dicing onions on an upturned tile.

"How long?' Moz asked.
"How long what?'
"Has the dead man been here."

The boy peered at him from under badly cut hair, hisface suspicious. "Which dead man?' he said and
went back to hisonions.

It took courage for Moz to talk to a policeman, even the kind who wore khaki shirts and carried only



smadl guns. And by the time he found that courage awhole café full of officersknew the small one-armed
boy wanted to talk to them.

The café was just outside the gates of the Medina. A place of metal chairs, Formicatables and tiny floor
tilesthat felt like studs under feet. The walls hid behind sheets of reconstituted loca marble better suited
for public baths or cheap graves. Café Nouveau had been built in the last decade of French ruleinastyle
that was dready out of fashion on the mainland. The police used it because no one se did. Or maybeit
was the other way round.

"What do you want?"

The one-armed boy didn't answer the sergeant who spoke. He chose instead an officer with akinder
face, aman younger than the others at that table. So it was only by accident that Moz found himself
talking to the most senior police officer present. A graduate who'd taken his degreein Paris. Which might
have been enough to cause Aboubakr Abbas endless problems, except for the fact that his uncle had
only just retired from the force and held spent a childhood hanging around staff canteensin the Hotel de
Policein Gudiz.

"Wha?'

"I've found abody." Moz'swords came out so quiet that he repeated them without being asked. "Ina
passage behind Criée Berbere."

"Man or woman?'

The sergeant was waved into silence by Mgor Abbas.
"A hippie," said Moz, answering anyway.

Magor Abbas sighed. "What's the name of this street?”
"It doesn't have one," said Moz.

The Mgor nodded. There was nothing unusua about that. A hundred different passagesin the Old City
made do without names and even the most modern government-produced maps left blank whole areas of
the Melah and much of the inner souk.

"And you," said the policeman, "do you have aname?"
"Al-Turg," Moz sad, without thinking.

Maor Abbas shrugged, heldd heard stranger. Finishing his mint teawith asingle gulp, the Maor nodded
to the others, hdf farewell and haf to say they could stay where they were. "Show me," he said.

CHAPTER 12

Lampedusa, Thursday 28 June

It was swesat and dirt, not heredity, which gave Prisoner Zero's hair itstexture. Something the marine
specidist cutting it understood because her boyfriend was black, while her Lieutenant and the Pentagon
officid standing beside him were not.



After three swipes either side, Prisoner Zero was left with agreying Mohican, afact that raised a half
smile so private it never reached hisface. And then the Mohican was gone, buzzed away in a clatter of
chesp blades. The clipperswerelocd, garishly chromed and came with five attachments, one for each
setting. At the moment the blades were naked, resulting in a crop fine enough to draw blood when they
caught amosquito bite on the back of Prisoner Zero's neck.

It was hisfirst morning at Camp Freedom and beyond the Mediterranean headland dawn was
transmuting sullen wavesto mercury, while ashod of flying fish turned unseento diversof siver. No
fishing boats were dlowed near the Punta dell’Acqua, and the tiny cove below the headland had been
closed with achain acrossits entrance, much as might have happened five hundred years earlier.

The mostly German tourists who originaly occupied the hotel had been shipped to other resortson
Lampedusa or sent home.

Where once Turkish raiderslanded war parties and Sicilian princes banished their enemiesthe USS
Harry S. Truman was now anchored. For thefirgt timein months, pregnant Tunisian clandestini weren't
staggering through waves or crawling up narrow beaches, too tired even to beg for asylum. Asaloca
Forza ltadia spokesman said, sometimes good came from bad.

"Now the beard."

More clippers, starting on Prisoner Zero's jaw, at apoint just below hisleft ear. Once again the hair
came away in coarse gtrips, greyer than before. The marine wielding the clippersfinished the left sde and
gtarted on the right, leaving the man handcuffed to the chair with along goatee that was dmost acliché of
how aterrorist should look.

Examining her handiwork Marine Stone shrugged, took afistful of the goatee and switched her clippers
back on. The prisoner's face was pale from lack of sunlight and sallow, amost olive. He didn't look like
an Arab to her, but what did she know?

Shewasjust there to do what she wastold.

Lieutenant Ashcroft and the civilian were arguing security arrangements and it seemed to bethe manin
the suit who was making most of the complaints, al of themidiotic.

Theidand of Lampedusawas seven mileslong and two mileswide and its nearest land masswas North
Africa, amere seventy-one miles away, whereas Sicily, the idand to which Lampedusa belonged in spirit
if not geographicaly, wastwice that distance. At its pegk, during high summer, nine hundred North
African asylum seekers a month washed up on what was Italian soil.

"Body hair," ordered the civilian and Specidist Stone glanced at her lieutenant for confirmation, redizing
too late that this was abad move. "Got a problem with that?' the civilian demanded.

"Yes, ar." Her voicewasflat. "I have, ar.”
"And your problem iswhat?"
"He's handcuffed to achair. And wearing clothes, sir."

They shackled the naked prisoner to abench in the hotel gym, face up, wrists fixed to the legs a one end
and anklesto the legs at the other. "They" being Master Sergeant Saez and the man from the Pentagon.
None of the current round of visitors wearing suits and shades had bothered to introduce themsalvesto
Specidist Stone; she was only some lowly peon in marineintelligence.



Maybe it was need to know.

Clicking on her clippers, Speciaist Stone took the suit at hisword and removed al of Prisoner Zero's
body hair, starting with hislower legs. When she got to his genitals she just kept going, moving aside his
shrunken prick with casua insouciance before starting on his sscomach and then chest, around the nipples
and under hisarms.

Prisoner Zero stank, there was no doubt about that, the kind of stink she renembered from weekend
vigtsto the Chicago Zoo with her father. Even the suit was close enough to noticeit.

"He needs abath," said the Lieutenant.
"No," the suit said. "What he needsis a shower."

"Thisisde-licing, right?" the Lieutenant asked, when Master Sergeant Saez had finished hosing Prisoner
Zero down with water taken from afire point.

The suit shook his head.
"Then why shave the body hair?'

"Why?" The suit smiled at Lieutenant Ashcroft asif he were achild and aparticularly smple one a that.
"I'd have thought that was obvious," he said. "We're making it easier to attach electrodes.”

Lieutenant Ashcroft wasn't the only one to hope the man wasjoking.

Thefirst reference to Lampedusa occurred in aletter from Pope Leon 111 to Charlemagne, Emperor of
the Wegt, informing him of a battle between the Byzantines and an Arab army. In 1436 Alfonso of
Aragon presented the idand to Giovanni de Caro. In 1661, its owner, Ferdinand Tommeas, received the
title of prince from the King of Spain. Seventy-five years later, when the English Earl of Sandwich visited
theidand, hefound only oneinhabitant.

None of thisthe Lieutenant had known the evening before, as he piloted a helicopter acrossthe
darkening waters of the Mediterranean, with its cargo of three men in suits, five marinesand one
manacled prisoner.

He had orders, aflight chart downloaded from the Itaians, a map reference and GPS positioning in case
he till couldn't find the place. Asit was, dl he actually needed to do was play spot the Nimitz-class
arcraft carrier.

Thered been a suggestion that the USS Harry S. Truman should be positioned off Lampedusas
south-western tip, between Punta dell’ Acquaand the Tunisian coast, but this was felt to be unnecessarily
insulting to Tunis, and anyway everyone from the Presdent down knew there was nothing the USS
Truman couldn't do equally well from the Sicilian Sde, thirty milesto the north-eet....

"Gettoit," the Master Sergeant had told a corporal as Lieutenant Ashcroft released the doors and the
corpora had nodded at two marines. Together they'd manoeuvred the blindfolded prisoner into the
doorway, down some steps and onto asmall patch of withered lawn.

Away to one side, adozen SLRswhirred and a Fox Network reporter began her spid to camera.
Stating the obvious, as dways. No one rushed forward or jostled for position. The rulesfor journdists
had been set out in advance, intriplicate, to be signed by department heads.



They were the chosen, flown by the Pentagon to atiny idand in the Mediterranean owned by Italy. And
the Italians had been delighted to |oan its western tip to the Pentagon. It said so on the pressrelease.

"Wak," demanded the Master Sergeant and Prisoner Zero did, while two marines on either side gripped
his upper arms. The swathe of crepe hiding the man's eyes was held in place by astrip of duct tape that
circled hisentire skull. Plagtic cuffslocked hiswrists behind his back and a short length of shackle
secured both ankles. His shoes were gone and so was the ring he'd worn on hislittle finger.

Some of thefinest linguists at the Pentagon were currently failing to come up with atrandation of the
flowing script engraved into itsred stone, despite using the latest in trandation software. Thiswas
because it was written in an old form of Persian. Prisoner Zero had no ideawhat it said ether.

He understood colloquia French, that much was now confirmed. A quick and dirty CAT scan having
produced language recognition patternsfor this, Arabic and rudimentary Berber.

That he spoke English was known from hisinterrogation.

If Prisoner Zero now failed to acknowledge asingle order it was because he chose not to rather than
because he didn't understand what was being said. Master Sergeant Saez had his own opinion on that
but had been told to keep it to himsdlf, especialy while the press were around.

"S0," said the smal man, walking over to where Prisoner Zero stood shivering and naked in the early
morning light. "Thisisour man, right?"

Asif it could be anybody ese.

Lieutenant Ashcroft Sghed, mostly at the fact that the Pentagon's representative had excused himself the
moment the lawyer came through the doorway and begun to introduce himsalf. Behind Miles Alsdorf
stood Colonel Borgenicht, commandant of the newly named Camp Freedom. He was |ooking less than

happy.
"Yes, gr. Thisis Prisoner Zero."

Both Colonel Borgenicht and the lawyer paused to examine the man, water dripping from his naked
body.

"What happened to hishair?'

"| shaved it off, gr." The answer came from aMarine Specidist 0 short that she bardly stood level with
the White House lawyer, who had a career's worth of Cuban hedls and hand-made suits behind him,
even back in the days when he couldn't afford them.

"And why exactly did you cut it off?" asked Miles Alsdorf. He was holding avery expensive briefcasein
one hand and worethis year's Rolex Presidentid. Given what the White House was paying for his
counsdl on this matter, he could easily afford both.

Specidist Stone looked towards Lieutenant Asheroft. Only the Lieutenant was busy not meeting her
eyes.

"Because those were my orders, sir.”

"And who gave this order?’



"A maninasuit, Sr. Hedidn't give hisname.”

Miles Alsdorf's frown was usudly reserved for opposing counsd. ™Y ou do know, don't you," he said,
gpeaking to the Colond, "that the President himsdlf istaking apersond interest in this case?"

"So isthe Secretary of Defense," said Colond Borgenicht. The current spat between the White House
and the Pentagon was their business. He was a career officer and hoped to keep it that way.

The corridor leading to his cage Prisoner Zero drew from memory, scratching it into the skin of hisarm
with athumbnail. The only problem with thiswas that his map kept fading.

At the end of the corridor was adoor and through that door could be found the hotel's swimming pool,
its showers and changing rooms. Two marines had been in the process of emptying the pool, using an
electric pump, when Prisoner Zero was marched by. Maybe they expected him to try to drown himself.

He currently wore apair of trousers made from coarse orange paper, designed to fasten with acord. The
cord was a so made of paper and broke easily. The prisoner knew this because he'd broken it.

He'd received four injections and been told held get antibiotics three times aday with hisfood. The
cigarette burns on the inside of histhigh had been cleaned without comment by a marine paramedic,
swabbed with some antiseptic and then dressed with astrip of synthetic skin. They weretaking
remarkably good care of him for someone they intended to kill.

And they did till intend to execute him, because more letha injections were scheduled for two weeksto
the day, Thursday 12 July. Although, as Master Sergeant Saez had pointed out, if the Pentagon was
alowed itsway, Prisoner Zero would aready be up against awall.

Fittingly enough, thewall Master Sergeant Saez had in mind was the one Prisoner Zero firgt noticed when
Specidist Stone ripped free his blindfold the night before, and the prisoner found himsdf staring at a
tourist hotel.

Almost pink in the twilight, thewall was meant to look asif it had stood forever. Only aworkman had
plastered the thing too soon, certainly before the mortar holding the breeze blocks had had a chance to
dry, and angular cracks now indicated stress pointsin the structure undernegth.

In the wall was awrought-iron gate. This had been padlocked and sheeted on both sideswith stedl plates
which were held in place by bolts. Next to the gate was a flowerbed and this had been trampled down.
After thewall, the door and the flowerbed, the next thing Prisoner Zero had noticed was a curl of dog
shit on the earth, turning to ash with age.

As Prisoner Zero scratched mapsinto hisarm, Specidist Stone got busy painting out awindow opposite
Prisoner Zero's cage. Obliterating a stretch of ragged cliff with blue sea beyond, the dissonance between
ochrerock and the utterly flat blueness of the Mediterranean an indication of the depth of the drop.

In one dimension, the blue was so close as to be part of the same, whilein another it was obvioudy and
entirely separate. Asit wasin the dimension beyond that.

Gulls, dark-headed and greedy, spun on the thermal's above the edge of the cliff and then dropped away,
like bit partsin some conjuring trick. Butterflies danced beyond the glass and then they were gone, dong
with the dliff, gullsand his sight of the sea, whitewashed away with aheavy brush.

It had dl been very beautiful, in someways morered than anything held ever seen, and yet Prisoner Zero



had trouble working out what al this had to do with him. He should have been elsawhere. In America,
most probably on the lawn of the White House with the latest rifle and laser Sghts. Saving the future from
itsdf.

"Arethey treating you well enough?"

Miles Alsdorf must have been told what to expect because his face expressed no surprise a finding his
client hed in acage made by welding together huge sheets of stedd mesh. The big surprisefor Miles
Alsdorf wasthat held won hisfight for daily access.

The cage had been welded into place in the middle of the hotel weights room, which had been cleared of
dumbbellsand apair of dud-stack multigyms, dthough mats were dtill piled below alarge window; now
whitewashed, padlocked and covered with mesh left over from welding the cage.

"Colond Borgenicht'sjust been explaining it to me," Miles Alsdorf added, stepping into the room and
shutting out the guards behind him. "They don't want to lose you.”

Silence greeted this comment but he kept smiling al the same. Hed defended New Y ork cop-killers,
three black teenagers accused of raping the daughter of a Texas senator and a self-confessed
baby-smotherer, a twenty-three-year-old from Kansas too deep into heroin even to remember how she
got pregnant. And once, about fifteen years before, he'd defended the butcher of Lyons, an octogenarian
Nazi whose senility stopped him from even knowing that hed committed the crime.

"I'm Miles," said the man, "Miles Alsdorf, remember? I've been retained as your lawyer. We need to
apped," he added. "And the sooner the better.” Lifting his briefcase, he looked around for aplace to put
it and redlized too late that there wasn't one. So he put it down again and squatted on one Side of the
wire, while Prisoner Zero sat, his knees tucked up under his chin, on the other.

Pulling a Dictaphone from his pocket, Miles described the cage in short, clipped sentences, making
particular reference to the fact that the prisoner's dop bucket had no lid and that visitors such as himsdlf
had nowhere to sit. And then something else occurred to him.

"How are you supposed to know where Meccais?'
Prisoner Zero stared at him.

"| thought people like you had to pray fivetimesaday?'
Likeme?

Only if they believe in God, Prisoner Zero wanted to say, but he didn't; believein God or say it ether.
He bdlieved in cold equations, Quantum Foam and in time, which he knew had two mutually compatible
shapes. Thefirg spirdled out like an ice-cream cone, widening in circlesfrom asingle point at the
bottom, the other was spherical.

He'd chased down some of the equations twenty years before, thinking about little else towards the end
and aways reaching the same concluson. Timewasamarble.

A book